

SITUATION ANALYSIS ON EVIDENCE-INFORMED HEALTH POLICY-MAKING

Estonia

EVIPNet Europe Series, N° 3

Health system and policy-making context

Country context

Situation analysis to improve evidence-informed health policy-making in Estonia

Estonia

EVIPNet Europe Series, N°3





REGIONAL OFFICE FOR Europe

ABSTRACT

The aim of the situation analysis is to provide deeper understanding of the major factors that may facilitate or hinder the evidence-informed health policy in Estonia. It was conducted based on the WHO situation analysis manual and it found that in order to ensure research use among policy-makers in a systematic way, a knowledge translation platform could be created. A knowledge translation platform is a national-level entity designed to create and nurture links among researchers, policy-makers and other research users. With the aim of using the available resources in the best possible ways in order to obtain good population health outcomes, the platform would support already existing practices in health policy-making with high-quality evidence and implementation considerations. It would support the work of policy-makers and focus on knowledge translation that will help to make evidence available in the policy-making process without limiting choices among decision-makers.

KEYWORDS

EVIDENCE-INFORMED HEALTH POLICY KNOWLEDGE TRANSLATION HEALTH POLICY MAKING RESEARCH USE IN POLICY MAKING KNOWLEDGE BROKERING KNOWLEDGE TRANSLATION PLATFORM ESTONIA

Address requests about publications of the WHO Regional Office for Europe to:

Publications WHO Regional Office for Europe UN City, Marmorvej 51 DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark

Alternatively, complete an online request form for documentation, health information, or for permission to quote or translate, on the Regional Office website (<u>http://www.euro.who.int/pubrequest</u>).

© WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2019

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo</u>).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization.

Suggested citation. EVIPNet Europe. Situation analysis to improve evidence-informed health policy-making in Estonia. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2019. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see <u>http://apps.who.int/bookorders</u>. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see <u>http://www.who.int/about/licensing</u>.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

CONTENTS

Acknowledgementsvi
About the authorsvi
Abbreviations
Executive summaryix
1. Introduction
1.1 EVIPNet Europe and evidence-informed policy1
1.2 Why is EIP relevant in Estonia?
1.3 Strengthening EIP in Estonia: a SA of the current EIP landscape
1.4 Structure of the report5
2. General country context
2.1 Political structure and socioeconomic conditions
2.2 Nongovernmental policy stakeholder groups8
2.3 Stakeholder engagement in the policy-making process9
3. The health system11
3.1 Organization, governance and decision-making processes
3.2 Delivery of health services15
3.3 Health financing16
4. The national health information system17
4.1 Infrastructure and governance
4.2 Data sources, collection and quality19
4.3 Dissemination and monitoring
4.4 Limitations of HIS23
5. The national health research system
5.1 Stewardship
5.2 Financial and human resources27
5.3 Production and use
6. EIP process
6.1 Current EIP processes and practices
6.2 Examples of research use35
7. Conclusions, recommendations and next steps
7.1 Current factors that support EIP
7.2 Current factors that challenge EIP40
7.3 Strengthening and supporting EIP in a systematic way42
7.4 Next steps
References

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank oversight group members, participants at the local stakeholder consultation, at interviews and consultations for their valuable opinions during the writing of this publication. We thank Marge Reinap, Head of WHO Country Office in Estonia for her guidance and continuous support, and Tanja Kuchenmüller of the WHO Regional Office for Europe Evidence-informed Policy Network Secretariat for sharing their international expertise and reviewing the analyses.

About the authors

Kristina Köhler, Adviser, Analysis and Statistics Department, Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia, <u>kristina.kohler@sm.ee</u>

Eleri Lapp, Chief Specialist, Health System Development Department, Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia, <u>eleri.lapp@sm.ee</u>

Ulla Raid, Adviser, Health System Development Department, Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia, <u>ulla.raid@sm.ee</u>

Angela Ivask, Research Adviser for Health Policy, Analysis and Statistics Department, Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia, <u>angela.ivask@sm.ee</u>

Kersti Esnar, Head of Health Care Resources, Health System Development Department, Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia, <u>kersti.esnar@sm.ee</u>

Abbreviations

CeHWIS	Centre of Health and Welfare Information Systems
Centre for HTA	Centre for Health Technology Assessment
EBP	evidence brief(s) for policy
EHIF	Estonian Health Insurance Fund
e-HIS	e-Health Information System
EIP	evidence-informed policy
ERC	Estonian Research Council
EU	European Union
EVIPNet	Evidence-informed Policy Network
GDP	gross domestic product
HB	Health Board
HIS	health information system
HTA	health technology assessment
ICD-10	International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th Revision
ICT	information and communications technology
KB	knowledge brokering
ΚT	knowledge translation
KTP	knowledge translation platform
NHP	National Health Plan
NIHD	National Institute for Health Development
OECD	Organisation of Economic Co-operation and Development
PD	policy dialogue
R&D	research and development
R&D&I	research and development and innovation
R&I	research and innovation
RRS	rapid response service
SA	situation analysis
SAM	State Agency of Medicines
SNOMED	Systematized Nomenclature of Medicine
TalTech	Tallinn University of Technology
TLU	Tallinn University
UT	University of Tartu
WB	World Bank

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Estonia has taken part in the WHO Evidence-informed Policy Network (EVIPNet) Europe activities since 2014; so far one capacity-building workshop has been organized and one evidence brief for policy has been developed (reducing the consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages and their negative health impact in Estonia). In order to identify strategies to improve and strengthen evidence-informed health policy in Estonia, a situation analysis was performed. The aim of the situation analysis is to provide deeper understanding of the major factors that may facilitate or hinder the evidence-informed health policy in Estonia. It was conducted based on the WHO situation analysis manual. The main sources for the analysis were literature reviews, key informant interviews and consultations with policy-makers. The findings were reviewed, critically appraised, consolidated and validated with the WHO EVIPNet Europe Secretariat, the oversight group and at a stakeholder consultation meeting.

Several institutions and departments in the government structure support evidence-informed policy-making in Estonia. Several government-level legislative elements also foster the use of evidence in the policy-making process (intent to elaborate a draft act, impact assessment). In the field of health, different institutions contribute to the use of health information, namely the National Institute for Health Development, the Estonian Health Insurance Fund, the Health Board, the State Agency of Medicines, and the Centre of Health and Welfare Information Systems. Generally, health data in Estonia are disseminated in user-friendly formats, are regularly used in policy-making processes and mostly cover the needs of policy-makers. In addition, research use is a normal part of health policy-making. Some evidence-supported systems that support evidence-informed policy are already in place in Estonia, namely the Centre for Health Technology Assessment at the University of Tartu, the process used by the Estonian Health Insurance Fund to define the health benefits package and the development of clinical guidelines. Examples of using health data and research in the policy-making process include green papers on alcohol, tobacco, and nutrition and physical activity.

The situation analysis also identified missing elements that are essential for evidence-informed policy-making. These are systemic problems, cultural issues or long-term processes (e.g. political culture, lack of experts and researchers in the field of health systems, fragmentation of the health information system, etc.) that need improvement in order to strengthen evidence-informed policy. Offering solutions to these is beyond the scope of the situation analysis.

However, the analysis also identified gaps in evidence-informed policy-making that need further improvement in which it can offer possible solutions. The gaps include:

- » no structure or person(s) in place who is responsible for supporting and developing evidence-informed health policy;
- » a lack of knowledge and skills about evidence-informed policy processes and tools among policy-makers, researchers and other research users;

- few research studies that find their way to the policy-making process, with a lack of knowledge and access among policy-makers and a lack of user-friendly research synthesis;
- » a lack of time, skills, access, guidelines and tools that support the use of evidence among policy-makers; and
- » no existing network or structure that systematically supports the evidence-informed policy process (creation of evidence briefs for policy, policy dialogue and rapid response service).

In order to ensure research use among policy-makers in a systematic way, a knowledge translation platform could be created. A knowledge translation platform is a national-level entity designed to create and nurture links among researchers, policy-makers and other research users. With the aim of using the available resources in the best possible ways in order to obtain good population health outcomes, the platform would support already existing practices in health policy-making with high-quality evidence and implementation considerations. It would support the work of policy-makers and focus on knowledge translation that will help to make evidence available in the policy-making process without limiting choices among decision-makers.

The platform's main tasks would be to synthesize and appraise already existing evidence in the form of evidence briefs for policy and rapid response services, on the topics defined in close collaboration with policy-makers and to support policy dialogue (PD) among stakeholders. Other tasks would include capacity building and networking among policy-makers, researchers and other stakeholders. A knowledge translation platform is ideally led by trustworthy, highly connected and credible experts, intermediaries who excel in various different fields, including evidence gathering, critical appraisal, facilitation, communication and networking. It requires experience and commands respect in the worlds of both research and policy. It could work in different forms (network, unit, organization) and could be based in different locations (part of government, in a university, in a national institute, as a member of civil society). Section 7.4.1 offers options for a knowledge translation platform in Estonia with the pros and cons in order to initiate further discussions.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 EVIPNet Europe and evidence-informed policy

Over the years, there has been an increase in global calls to ensure that health policy-making is informed by research evidence to improve health systems and population health [1–3]. The concept of knowledge translation (KT) has become a leading approach in narrowing the gulf between research and policy [4] and to forge the cycle of policy-informed research leading to evidence-informed policy (EIP). KT is the exchange, synthesis and effective communication of reliable and relevant research results [5]. The focus is on promoting interaction among the producers and users of research, removing the barriers to research use and tailoring information to different target audiences so that effective interventions are used more widely [5]. KT examples include development of evidence briefs for policy (EBP), conducting deliberative PDs and the creation of a rapid response service (RRS), where researchers respond to policy-makers' demands with a tailored synthesis of research evidence, etc. [4].

In order to improve public health and reduce inequities by increasing the systematic use of the best available scientific evidence to guide health systems policy development, WHO launched EVIPNet Europe in 2012. EVIPNet Europe is a key implementation pillar of the European Health Information Initiative and central to the goals of the Action plan to strengthen the use of evidence, information and research for policy-making in the WHO European Region (WHO Regional Committee for Europe resolution EUR/RC66/12). EVIPNet Europe encourages countries, as a first step, to conduct a collaborative situation analysis (SA) to assess their national EIP context and establish an EIP baseline, including the institutional and human capacity necessary to conduct EIP in a continuing, sustainable manner [6].

In 2013, a capacity-building workshop to raise awareness about available tools and resources that support the use of research among policy-makers was arranged in Tallinn, Estonia. Thereafter, Estonia has taken part in the EVIPNet Europe activities since 2014 and rather than first conducting an SA, Estonia chose to begin implementing EVIPNet Europe by developing an EBP on reducing the consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages and their negative health impact in Estonia [7]. The EBP was found to be useful and influential, and therefore showed the need to develop context-specific KT interventions and identify strategies to strengthen EIP activities, including the creation of a multistakeholder country team or network, known as the KT platform (KTP) [8] that brings together the worlds of research and policy [9]. In order to progress with the activities in the field of EIP in a systematic way in Estonia, an SA was conducted.

Box 1 defines key concepts and terms in EIP.

Box 1. Key concepts and terms in EIP

EIP can be defined as **[10]**: an approach to policy decisions that is intended to ensure that decision-making is well-informed by the best available research evidence. How this is done may vary and will depend on the type of decisions being made and their context. Nonetheless, evidence-informed policy-making is characterized by the fact that access and appraisal of evidence as an input into the policy-making process is both systematic and transparent.

WHO [11] defines **KT** as: the exchange, synthesis, and effective communication of reliable and relevant research results. The focus is on promoting interaction among the producers and users of research, removing the barriers to using research and tailoring information to different target audiences so that effective interventions are used more widely.

A **KTP** can be defined as **[4**]: a national- or state-level entity designed to create and nurture links among researchers, policy-makers and other research users; these links draw the research and policy communities closer together to ultimately create cycles of policy-informed evidence and evidence-informed policy. KTPs are ideally led by trustworthy, highly connected and credible experts, intermediaries who excel in various different fields, including evidence gathering, critical appraisal, facilitation, communication and networking. They almost certainly require experience – and command respect – in the worlds of both research and policy.

A KTP designs, leads and/or delegates strategies to:

- » understand the prevailing situation on a particular issue;
- » harvest local evidence and experience and synthesize it with global knowledge to provide guidance in policy development and implementation;
- » broker among stakeholders on key issues;
- » package syntheses and other communications for specific audiences; and
- » strengthen the capacities of researchers, policy-makers and other stakeholders in accessing research evidence, in performing synthesis work and in KT more generally [9].

The **EBP** is research synthesis in a user-friendly format, offering informed policy options. It is used to convince the target audience of the urgency of the current problem and the need to adopt the preferred alternatives or strategies of intervention. This type of policy brief involves systematic and transparent efforts to contextualize the results of systematic reviews and to integrate the evidence with setting-specific research results to support well-informed policy decisions [9].

PD is an EIP tool to guide policy development, which is typically informed by an EBP **[12]**. It helps to contextualize and utilize evidence within policy-making. The key features of PD:

- » enable interaction between stakeholders (e.g. researchers, policy-makers, civil society health professionals and the media);
- » integrate explicit knowledge with tacit knowledge (colloquial evidence) to guide policy development, one of the factors to EIP; and
- » are characterized by participatory and consultative processes, having clear objectives, being inclusive and transparent, providing an opportunity to reflect on the applicability of scientific evidence in different contexts, challenging science, promoting dialogue among different types of stakeholders and directly impacting on the decision itself [13,14].

Box 1. Contd.

RRS is typically a national-level entity that encourages policy-makers to pose a question that research evidence might answer, then in a matter of hours or days the service provides a synthesis of the best available research evidence [15].

1.2 Why is EIP relevant in Estonia?

There is increasing pressure on the health system and its budget as the population in Estonia (and in many other countries) is ageing. With an ageing population, noncommunicable diseases are increasing and in the upcoming years, they will become even more prevalent than today. This challenges the Government to find solutions on how to provide services and meet the needs of people. Therefore, it is important to try to ease the pressure on the health system through disease prevention, health promotion and improved chronic disease management by using the available resources in the best possible ways. In order to achieve this with limited resources, the implemented policy actions need to be evidence informed, outcome oriented and cost-effective. Even though some processes are in place to inform policy decisions by the best available evidence, they need to be more systematic and the proportion of policy decisions that are evidence-informed and well-analysed needs to increase.

1.3 Strengthening EIP in Estonia: a SA of the current EIP landscape

A SA was needed in order to identify strategies to improve EIP activities. The aim of the current SA is to provide deeper understanding of the major factors that may facilitate or hinder the systematic EIP processes in Estonia [16]. The specific objectives of this report are to:

- » describe and understand the local context that would potentially enable or inhibit EIP;
- » deliver background information to guide deliberations on the organizational form, location, strategic direction, etc. for a suitable and sustainable KTP and EIP; and
- » strengthen collaboration with international partners to support future work on strengthening EIP.

1.3.1 SA TEAM AND METHODS

In order to prepare and conduct the SA, an implementation team was formed. It consisted of five members who all work in the Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia and who have different expertise in the fields that are covered in the SA (health system, health information system, health research system). An Estonian national champion of EVIPNet Europe who works in the Ministry led the team. The oversight group consisted of four persons with different backgrounds in the area of health (research and policy) who supported the implementation team by validating their work. A representative of the WHO Country Office in Estonia consulted and provided technical advice as well as administrative support in conducting the SA. At regional level, the WHO Secretariat of EVIPNet Europe provided further technical advice and support throughout the duration of the study (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Roles and responsibilities of the SA team^a

^a The number in parentheses represents the number of people involved.

The SA was conducted from November 2018 to March 2019. Data were collected using the EVIPNet Europe situation analysis manual **[16]**, provided by the EVIPNet Europe Secretariat. The manual is a detailed guideline on the topics to cover, and the suggested methods and tools used to collect and synthesize information on these topics.

The following key sources were used to gather information for the SA:

- » a literature review to capture both the literature published in scientific journals and the grey literature (including websites);
- » key informant face-to-face interviews with policy-makers (six interviews that took between 45 minutes and two hours and six minutes);
- » key informant consultations either by phone (one person) or through face-to-face consultation (six people);
- » key informant written consultations (seven consultations, eight people);
- » key informant discussions through face-to-face meetings (two meetings, six people); and
- » findings and the draft report of the SA that were reviewed, critically appraised, consolidated and validated by four representatives of an oversight group and at a local stakeholder consultation; and one meeting held at the end of the SA after which the stakeholder recommendations were incorporated into this final SA report.

When information was missing after consulting these sources, a reasoned opinion or tacit knowledge derived from the observations and experiences of the SA team was used as an acceptable data source as long as the grounds for the arguments were adequately documented.

The conclusions of the SA stem from the investigators' interpretations, using all information sources. The risk of bias and errors inherent in interpretations was at least partly mitigated by conducting the stakeholder consultations described above, to verify the results.

1.4 Structure of the report

The report is structured as follows. Section 2 presents general information about Estonia, with a focus on the country's socioeconomic conditions, political structure, policy-making processes and key stakeholders in this process. Section 3 describes Estonia's health system and health policy frameworks, with a focus on delivery and financing of health care. Section 4 describes health information systems. Section 5 describes stewardship, resources and the context of health research in Estonia. Section 6 presents an overview of current EIP efforts and insight into how the health system, health information system and the health research system interface within these. Finally, Section 7 summarizes the conclusions of this SA, factors that may support or challenge EIP in Estonia and suggests next steps.

2. GENERAL COUNTRY CONTEXT

This section on the Estonian national context offers a general understanding of the country's major political and socioeconomic features and policy-making processes.

2.1 Political structure and socioeconomic conditions

Estonia is a democratic parliamentary republic [17]. The Government exercises the executive authority of the Republic of Estonia [18]. The legislative and supervisory power over government is exercised by a unicameral parliament, and the central government has almost exclusive power to formulate strategic directions and to issue and enforce regulations [18]. Governmental authorities (e.g. ministries, central government agencies) have a major role in the policy cycle (preparing policies as well as decision-making) [17]. Local governments have a significantly less policy-making influence; but in the field of health, they are responsible for health promotion at local level and most hospitals are under the control of local governments [17]. Several institutions or departments in the government structure support and/or develop general EIP in the country: the Legal and Research Department of the Parliament of Estonia (*Riigikogu*)¹ [19], the Strategy Unit of the Government Office² [20] and the National Audit Office³ [21]. The population of Estonia generally supports the use of research in policy-making [22].

Employees in ministries usually have academic degrees and specific positions, departments, or institutions of ministries support policy processes with analysis and data. However, (relatively) high voluntary turnover of employees might present a challenge to the sustainability and capacity of EIP and its culture [23].

Estonia, a member of the European Union (EU) since 2004 and the Organisation of Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) since 2010, is considered a high-income economy by the World Bank (WB). The real gross domestic product (GDP) per capita in the EU in 2018 was €28 200 and €15 100 in Estonia [24]. In 2018, the employment rate in Estonia (79.5%) was higher than in the EU (73.2%) [25]. Average life expectancy in 2017 in Estonia (78.4 years) is considerably lower than the EU average (80.9 years) [26].

Based on the 2017 WB Worldwide Governance Indicators, Estonia ranks in the top 10% of countries in the world regarding voice and accountability, regulatory quality, rule of law and control of corruption; among the top 20% in government effectiveness; and in the top 30% in political stability and absence of violence/terrorism [27].

¹ The function of the Legal and Research Department is to advise members of Parliament (*Riigikogu*), the Parliament's Board, committees, factions and their employees so that discussions in Parliament are knowledge-based.

² The Strategy Unit of the Government Office supports the planning of work of the Government and coordinates the development and implementation of the Government's action plan, as well as strategic development plans for increasing the country's competitiveness and for sustainable development.

³ The National Audit Office is an independent institution acting in the interests of the Estonian taxpayers. Its function is to investigate and report how the government has spent taxpayer money.

2.1.1 THE POLICY-MAKING PROCESS

A legal framework is in place that legislates and obliges the use of evidence in policy-making processes. The intention to elaborate a draft act shall be created prior to drafting a draft act (analogous to the green paper in the EU decision-making process [28]), which shall include a comparative analysis of laying down legal provisions and other possible solutions together with a primary analysis of the impacts of the preferred regulation [29]. An intention to elaborate a draft act shall outline, in particular:

- » a description of the problem to be solved, the reason for the state to act and the urgency of the issue;
- » a description of the objective or the desired situation;
- » an overview of alternative solutions to the problem, a comparative analysis thereof and reasons for selecting the preferred alternative;
- » an overview of how similar problems have been resolved in countries legally, culturally and institutionally similar to Estonia;
- » a general description of the developed regulations and foreseeable period of validity;
- a preliminary overview of potential risks that may impede or impair solving the problem in the proposed manner and impacts that may accompany the implementation of an act; and
- » an overview of further stages of elaborating the legislation and the activities taken during the process (a need for further assessment of the impacts related to the implementation of the legislation shall be considered inter alia) together with a detailed schedule and list of responsible persons.

In addition to the previously mentioned obligation, every change in legislation has to include an impact assessment in which its potential impacts to different fields, stakeholders and outcomes are assessed **[30]**. The aim of this is to improve the quality and transparency of government decisions and to improve the likelihood that the decisions will result in desired outcomes. There is an approved methodology for how the assessment should be carried out, in order to improve and harmonize government agencies' capabilities to plan, conduct and evaluate the policies. The methodology is meant to be used for all legal changes, development plans and decisions made by a minister or for other important decisions made by the government.

Even though mechanisms are in place, interviews with health policy-makers indicated problems in everyday practice. It was stressed that prepared materials, either policy papers or impact assessments for legislation changes, vary in quality. The impression is that they are not really thought through because of the lack of time, skills or access to evidence among policy-makers.

"Policy decisions are made fast and policy-makers do not have time to collect the evidence. There is a window of opportunity to make a difference and we have to take that opportunity at once – when we don't the possibility will pass." (Policy-maker)

> "As policy-makers we do not have time or skills to find the research evidence." (Policy-maker)

Therefore, it can be said that no standardized process or quality assurance mechanisms exist. No organization is in place to evaluate the impact assessments for legislation changes or evidence bases for implemented policies. An interview with a health policy-maker illustrates this sentiment.

"The obligation to assess impacts and offer different policy options in the case of legal changes supports evidence-based policy-making but the question remains how well are they done and who monitors the quality." (Policy-maker)

In order to increase capacity among policy-makers, the Government Office manages a measure "Policy capacity development" from the European Structural Funds (2014–2020) under the priority direction "administrative capacity". The aim of the measure is to improve the policy development process by introducing mechanisms and tools for more holistic, inclusive and knowledge-based polices. The desire is to get to the situation where:

- » impact analyses are ubiquitous and used to make decisions;
- » collaboration between different parts of government in implementing the main priorities that cover multiple sectors is efficient;
- » strategic and financial management are bound with each other and supported by evidence-based decision-making in priority areas;
- » capacity in ministries in engaging stakeholders and social partners to take part in policy-making processes has improved; and
- » the use of smart legislation will ensure the quality and transparency of the legislative process, so that legislation is easy to understand, evidence based and inclusive [31].

2.2 Nongovernmental policy stakeholder groups

The following key nongovernmental stakeholder groups are involved in or influence policymaking in Estonia.

Regarding **civil society**, since the restoration of independence, Estonia's nongovernmental organization sector has undergone significant and often rapid changes, including the emergence of many specialized non-profit groups. More than half are real estate and business groups, while the rest are involved in community and social service activities, including education, health (for more information, see section 3.1) and women's issues. Despite a general trend towards greater professionalism in the non-profit sector, most of them continue to suffer from limited institutional and organizational capacities. Nevertheless, cooperation between the state and the non-profit sector to shape public policy and legislation continues to expand [32].

Interest/lobby groups in Estonia are focused on very specific problems and exerting pressure on the government, without wanting, though, to gain power. The business–politics linkage is very strong in Estonia, with business groups exerting fairly strong influence. It is quite common that politicians enter the business sector once their political career has ended, or the other way around. In addition, as the Parliament and its committees are responsible for adopting policies, interests groups might hinder EIP as they are often consulted or asked to take part in committee discussions [33]. Regarding the **media**, according to the 2015 Freedom House's freedom of the press report, the Estonian constitution provides for freedom of speech and of the press and the government respects these rights in practice. The press status is regarded as free. The country's numerous media outlets represent a wide variety of views, generally independent, without government interference [34]. Recently, the media has also started to promote and to make evidence more user-friendly for the general population; one example is the science portal named Innovator (*Novaator*) [35], the collaboration between Estonian National Broadcasting and the University of Tartu (UT). Also, the Estonian Research Council (ERC) has supported an initiative that concentrates on evidence-based argumentation named "How do you know?" where politicians have to explain the bases of their claims [36].

Higher education institutions including universities, in the field of health especially the UT, play an important role in evidence collection and synthesis (for more information, see sections 3.2 and 6.1).

2.3 Stakeholder engagement in the policy-making process

Stakeholder engagement is an important part of the policy-making process to ensure the quality and legitimacy of decisions. To achieve democratic stakeholder engagement, the government has approved the Good Public Engagement Code of Practice, meant to be used by all public authorities [37]. Every ministry that is responsible for a specific sector has its own network of stakeholders with whom it commonly engages.

Most draft laws are forwarded to stakeholders for comments and in some cases, stakeholders have influenced the law-making process extensively: they have organized public seminars and forums, analysed the impact of drafts on popular opinion, challenged political parties, provided reports and expert opinions, etc. [38] (for more information about health-related stakeholders see section 3.2). In addition, the Electronic Coordination System for Draft Legislation publishes all draft laws. It is a channel where anyone can submit comments and proposals for draft laws, which are considered during the process.

The Ministry of the Interior plans and coordinates state policy in the field of civil society in order to ensure more effective cooperation between state structures, local governments and citizens' associations in the course of developing a secure and open society [39]. The Ministry of the Interior supports the development of civil society organizations through its National Foundation of Civil Society [40], whose goal is to strengthen civil society. It arranges calls for proposals, supports activities developing civil society organizations and contributes to international cooperation between civil society organizations [39].

The Government Office manages the network of engagement coordinators that are located in ministries with the aim of harmonizing and spreading best practices in the field of stakeholder engagement and participation. The network shares best practices and allows consultations between coordinators to find solutions to difficulties they have encountered in their ministries' engagement and participation processes [22].

Box 2 summarizes key opportunities and challenges for EIP considering the general country context.

Box 2. Summary of key opportunities and challenges for future EIP efforts considering the general country context

Challenges

- » A lack of time, skills and access among policy-makers can prevent the use of evidence in EIP processes.
- » Voluntary turnover of employees in ministries might present a challenge to the sustainability and capacity of EIP and its culture.
- » A wide range of different interest groups with varying degrees of capabilities and empowerment in relation to EIP makes their engagement somewhat challenging.
- » Strong business–politics linkages might hinder the use of evidence in policy-making.

Opportunities

- » Several institutions or departments in the government structure support and/or develop EIP in the country.
- » Employees in ministries usually have degrees in higher education, and specific positions, departments or institutions of the ministries support policy processes with analysis and data.
- » Several government-level legislative elements have fostered the use of evidence in policy-making processes (e.g.: intention to elaborate a draft act, compulsory impact assessment, public participation in the formulation of laws and decrees).
- » Some new emerging media initiatives support the use of evidence.

3. THE HEALTH SYSTEM

This section on the health system describes the characteristics of stakeholders, structures, decision-making processes and recent health system reforms.

3.1 Organization, governance and decision-making processes

Estonia has a publicly funded solidarity-based mandatory health insurance, and the provision of health care has almost become completely decentralized since the passing of the Health Services Organization Act [41], which took effect in 2002. Health care providers in Estonia are autonomous entities operating under private law and they consist of primary, emergency and specialized medical and nursing care providers. Health services purchasing builds on a contractual relationship with providers as well as financial incentives [17].

The health system is overseen by the Ministry of Social Affairs and its agencies, which include the State Agency of Medicines (SAM), the Health Board (HB), the National Institute for Health Development (NIHD), the Centre of Health and Welfare Information Systems (CeHWIS) and the Estonian Health Insurance Fund (EHIF). The responsibility for overall health care planning is at national level under the control of the Ministry of Social Affairs [17].

The main EIP-related tasks that the Ministry of Social Affairs conducts are performing legislation impact assessments, monitoring the health of the population, setting goals, developing indicators and preparing materials for the Government, Parliament and its committees in the field of health. The aim of the Analysis and Statistics Department [42] and the Health System Development Department [43] of the Ministry of Social Affairs is to create the bases for evidence-informed policy-making of the Ministry. During the above-mentioned tasks, the Ministry of Social Affairs uses publicly available reports and data from the SAM, EHIF, HB and NIHD or contacts them specifically when the Ministry of Social Affairs is aware of unpublished data and/or reports (for more information, see section 4). When selecting indicators; setting goals; writing reports, memos or briefs; or conducting evaluations, the Ministry of Social Affairs collaborates with its agencies and the NIHD to include their expertise in the policy-making process.

The **SAM** is a governmental body with the following objectives: to ensure that medicines approved for use in Estonia for the prevention, treatment and diagnosis of human and animal diseases are proven to be efficacious, of high quality and safe; to promote the rational use of medicines; to ensure that when participating in clinical trials conducted in Estonia, the safety of the participants is guaranteed and their rights are protected; to ensure that cells, tissues and organs used in the treatment of humans in Estonia are proven to be safe and of high quality; and to ensure that narcotic and psychotropic substances and their precursors are used appropriately and in accordance with international conventions [44].

The NIHD engages in public health-related research and health promotion as well as the development and implementation of disease prevention programmes and activities. Its mission is to establish and

SITUATION ANALYSIS TO IMPROVE EVIDENCE-INFORMED HEALTH POLICY-MAKING IN ESTONIA

share health-related knowledge as well as to influence health behaviour and determinants of health to increase the well-being of the people in Estonia and to help them live longer and healthier lives. The main activities of the NIHD in consultations on and influence of health policy are: provision of health-related assessments and implementation of analysis; planning of health promotion programmes and action plans; provision of ethical assessments on health-related research; and establishment and organization of medical terminology as well as related consultations [45].

The **CeHWIS** manages and handles the national e-Health Information System [e-HIS] **[46**]. The HB's main tasks include licensing health care providers, registering health professionals, controlling the quality of health care provision, and organizing primary care and ambulance services **[47]**. The responsibilities of the HB are divided into three broad functions: health care, health protection and enforcement. The HB is also the competent authority for regulating medical devices, cosmetic products, chemical safety, drinking-water and bathing waters as well as recognizing medical qualifications **[47,48]**.

The EHIF is a legal entity [49,50] with the objective to ensure: payment of health insurance benefits payment for the provision of health services and the performance of other functions relating to the organization of health services mostly pursuant to the Health Insurance Act [51] and the Health Services Organisation Act [41] and costs prescribed in the budget of the health insurance fund.

Universities, especially the UT, play an important role in evidence collection, synthesis and assessment and, therefore, are also an important partner in relation to health policy (for more information, see sections 3.2 and 6.1).

Partners like the PRAXIS Centre for Policy Studies⁴ and the Centre for Applied Social Sciences (part of the UT Johan Skytte Institute of Political Studies) come into the view of policy-making when they win public procurement contracts with the Ministry of Social Affairs or another state agency or ministry to conduct a policy analysis or similar.

Different **medical specialities, health care providers and patient representatives** are also involved as important partners in the policy-making processes. Several professional organizations in Estonia in the field of health actively take part in policy processes. The most prominent professional group is the **Estonian Medical Association**. Over the years, it has been very active, together with other Estonian professional organizations, in negotiating minimum wages in collective agreements and in participating in the general debates and discussions on health care policies and challenges. The Ministry of Social Affairs (2001) recognizes 37 main medical specialties, which all have their own professional associations. Professional associations draft development plans for their respective medical specialties used by the Ministry of Social Affairs in the decision-making process; however, they do not have any legislative power.

Among these professional associations is the **Estonian Family Doctors' Association**. The Association has played an important role in developing family medicine and implementing family medicine reform since 1997 and it continues efforts to further strengthen the primary care system. The **Estonian Nurses Union** has been active in redefining professional standards in nursing, developing guidelines and improving the training curriculum for nurses. Together with the **Estonian Midwives Association**, a strategy was drafted setting priorities for development for 2011–2020. Hospitals have joined together

⁴ The PRAXIS Centre for Policy Studies is an independent non-profit civil initiative think tank. Its main policy research areas, alongside health policy, include education, civil society, as well as labour and social policy.

to form the **Estonian Hospital Association**, which takes part in negotiations with professional organizations about minimum wages and with the EHIF about the framework agreement. It also actively participates in discussions on health care legislation and policy development.

The oldest and most prominent patient organization is the **Estonian Patients Advocacy Association**. This organization has been actively involved in discussions and in drafting and debating legislation. It is involved in most ministerial working groups set up to discuss new policies or strategies and is a member of the Health Care Quality Expert Commission. The Society for Disabled People is represented on the EHIF Supervisory Board and the National Health Plan (NHP) Steering Committee. A patient organization linked to the pharmaceutical industry was created during a period of debate about introducing a reference pricing system for pharmaceutical reimbursements. However, there is room for improvements in terms of capacities and influence on health policies [17].

Those who have more to gain or lose are typically more organized and vocal in policy-making processes.

"Medical specialities or health care providers are more vocal on topics that are related to their everyday activities and less so on general health policy and topics related to the use of evidence. Also the voice of patient organizations is less audible." (Policy-maker)

Fig. 2 shows the organizational structure of the Estonian health care system.



Fig. 2. Organizational structure of the Estonian health care system

3.1.1 NATIONAL STRATEGIC HEALTH SYSTEM FRAMEWORKS AND RELATED REFORMS

The main policy document in the area of health that sets strategic objectives in Estonia is the NHP **[52]**, which integrates existing sectoral health plans, strategies and development plans into one plan that links various stakeholders of the health system and other sectors. The NHP contains measurable targets with specific indicators and a detailed list of activities that link directly to the state budget. All of the NHP activities and expenditures are reviewed annually and additional outcome reviews are carried out every second year (for more information, see section 4.3.2); additional need-based or specific analyses and evaluations are also carried out. Based on the reviews and assessments, recommendations are given on what needs to be changed in order to achieve the goals of the NHP. It is also the main tool for intersectoral health planning.

The NHP has a Steering Committee whose responsibility is to plan the activities and necessary resources based on the analysis of the previous implementation period. The Steering Committee consists of the following members: the Ministry of Social Affairs; the Ministries of Culture, Defence, Economic Affairs and Communications, Education and Research, the Environment, the Interior, Justice, and Rural Affairs; representatives of the main political parties in the Government; and representatives of the Association of Estonian Cities and Rural Municipalities, the Chancellor of Justice Offices, the EHIF, the Estonian Chamber of Disabled People, the Estonian Hospital Association, the Estonian Psychiatric Association, the Government Office, the HB, the Labour Inspectorate, the NIHD, and the UT. Members report to the Steering Committee on the organization of actions in their particular area of competence, on achievement of objectives in their respective government area and on the submission of the information required for reporting to the Ministry of Social Affairs and expert groups. An outcome and implementation report has to be presented to the Government. Currently there is scope to develop this Steering Committee into a more strategic intersectoral body in the updated NHP for 2020–2030 [17].

In addition to the NHP, the HB **[53]**, the SAM **[54]**, the EHIF **[55]** and the NIHD **[56]** have their own development plans. The EHIF development plan in relation to the health system is one of the most important ones as the EHIF has most of the budgetary resources of the health system. The consistency of goals between different development plans and the NHP are not always in line and needs further improvements.

If the updated NHP, currently under revision, can actually be used to plan activities, define measurable targets and hold stakeholders accountable, it will play a crucial role in the success of future reform efforts [17].

Several important recent health system reforms in Estonia include:

- » broadening the EHIF's revenue base in order to make the health system financially sustainable in the medium term and more resilient for future economic shocks [57];
- strengthening primary health care by setting up health centres with a broader scope of services in order to improve access to services, care coordination and enhance chronic disease management; and
- » setting new rules for reimbursement of pharmaceuticals and dental care in order to decrease the out-of-pocket payments in these areas [17].

Other initiatives are also under way in order to improve coordination between sectors (e.g. integrated care coordination project), to implement new payment methods (e.g. bundled payment of stroke care), to develop e-health services and to reorganize hospital network. In addition, discussions are ongoing regarding implementation of universal health coverage [58] (for more information, see section 6.2).

Evidence is regularly used in Estonia when health system reforms are initiated and different stakeholders are involved in the planning of change processes and reforms. Other national and international organizations are often involved in the EIP process (e.g. UT, PRAXIS, WHO, WB, European Commission, OECD, etc.) in order to collect or synthesize evidence, including cost analyses, and to develop recommendations based on the evidence. Based on interviews with health policy-makers, it can be said that reports and recommendations from international organizations are generally more valued in Estonia than national ones [59,60].

As highlighted in interviews with policy-makers, **WHO** is an important partner in EIP for the Ministry of Social Affairs. WHO provides support, including training, for strengthening capacity for KT and EIP. It also facilitates the methods and tools for KT and knowledge brokering (KB) and advocates and raises awareness for promoting KT. WHO also provides direct support for and facilitates the use of evidence in policy-making, such as compiling, synthesizing and systematizing evidence, and also facilitates the participation of networks.

3.2 Delivery of health services

The four types of health care in Estonia are: primary care provided by family doctors, emergency medical care, specialized (secondary and tertiary) medical care and nursing care. Family doctors in Estonia exercise a partial gatekeeping function and control most of the access to specialist care. Patients need a family doctor's referral in order to use most of the specialists' services and in order to be admitted to services as a non-emergency inpatient.

Hospitals in Estonia are divided into regional, central, general, local, special, rehabilitation care and nursing care hospitals depending on the catchment area, services provided and/or the location of the hospital. The geographical location of hospitals has been chosen to ensure that treatment is available to everyone within 70 km or a 60-minute drive. The Ministry of Social Affairs has established special requirements for each type of hospital (e.g. the scope of services provided and standards for the rooms, medical equipment and medical staff) [17].

In recent years, Estonia has made substantial progress to establish adequate evidencebased health care standards and guidelines (for more information, see section 6.1), including streamlining the process for guideline development and making all guidelines available to providers on a central website [61]. In 2010, Estonia started revising its national clinical guideline development process as part of an overall programme of quality improvement in health care. One outcome of the two-year process is the "Estonian Handbook for Guidelines Development" [62] developed in collaboration with WHO, the EHIF and the Faculty of Medicine at the UT. The Handbook brought together internationally accepted methods for developing guidelines. Five years after implementing the Handbook, various stakeholders felt that the guideline development process was appropriately implemented and the Handbook was considered very helpful [63]. Over 200 health care workers have been trained in the guideline development process, primarily through annual workshops and during the initial panel meetings [63]. Capacity building is still required to ensure that participants and stakeholders have the required skills and understand and accept the methods. Publishing periodic national assessments of health system performance (last done in collaboration with WHO and published in 2009 [64]) and linking funding to patient outcome data could also serve as an incentive for quality improvement. Performance monitoring would also contribute to EIP in general by guiding health policy. However, these approaches are not systematically used in Estonia.

Debates are ongoing about which agency should retain a leading role in health care quality improvement, which has raised concerns about stable funding in this area.

3.3 Health financing

The Estonian health care system is mainly publicly funded through solidarity-based mandatory health insurance contributions, in the form of an earmarked social payroll tax, contributing to 65% of health expenditure. Contributions are related to employment, but more than half of the insured are non-contributing individuals (e.g. children and pensioners) represents. The Estonian Tax and Customs Board collects the taxes. Private out-of-pocket expenditure makes up about a quarter of all health expenditure, mostly in the form of co-payments (22.7%) [17].

Financing of health care is mainly organized through the independent EHIF who finances outpatient and inpatient services provided to insured people, and in certain cases also rehabilitation, nursing and dental care services. Dental care is provided free of charge to children under 19 years of age and since 2017, the benefits package has also provided for adult dental care [17,49]. In the public health sector, services are provided by nongovernmental organizations, foundations or private entities that have contracts with the NIHD [17].

Box 3 summarizes key opportunities and challenges for EIP considering the health system.

Box 3. Summary of key opportunities and challenges for future EIP efforts considering the health system

Challenges

- » Funding is uncertain for quality improvement activities (clinical guidelines, pathways, patient safety etc.).
- » Health system-related goals are inconsistent between different development plans and the NHP needs improvement.
- » The NHP is not always the strategic document that plans activities, defines measurable targets and holds stakeholders accountable.
- » The health system performance assessment used to guide health policy is not systematically conducted.

Opportunities

- » Some people in the health system are knowledgeable in collecting and synthesizing evidence and making policy recommendations.
- » The health system uses evidence when making decisions and planning activities.
- » Stakeholders are actively involved in policy processes.

4. THE NATIONAL HEALTH INFORMATION SYSTEM

This section on the Estonian health information system (HIS) provides an overview of the main institutions, and describes the health data collection processes and the dissemination and use of health information.

4.1 Infrastructure and governance

The main institutions that collect, analyse and disseminate health data are the NIHD **[45,65]**, the CeHWIS **[46]**, the HB **[47,48]** and the SAM **[44,66]** all administered by the Ministry of Social Affairs **[67]**. In addition, the EHIF collects, analyses and disseminates health data **[49,68]**. Other ministries and national agencies also maintain health data, for example Statistics Estonia **[69]** and the UT **[70]**. Fig. 3 presents the main stakeholders, data sources and data dissemination tools in the Estonian HIS.

The Ministry of Social Affairs has three main departments responsible for different aspects of governance of the national HIS **[67]**. The tasks include developing the overall infrastructure of the HIS, as well as providing analytical input for policy processes. The Analysis and Statistics Department is responsible for public health data analysis. The Health System Development Department coordinates health care data collection and data analysis, and the Smart Development Department coordinates e-health development (Fig. 3).

The NIHD plays a very important role in relation to the HIS. The NIHD [45,65] collects, connects and provides reliable national information from a multitude of sources, related to the health of the Estonian population. In addition, the NIHD administers six population-based registers and databases [71] (Fig. 3). The Department of Health Statistics of the NIHD [72] is the administrator of Estonian national health statistics. It collects and analyses aggregated data from health care providers [73]. The data covers: health care services (outpatient visits, hospital discharges, emergency care, surgery, dental care, diagnostics and therapeutic procedures, etc.), resources (hospital beds, medical devices, health care providers' economic activity, etc.), morbidity and the number of breastfed infants. In addition, it also collects individual-level data on health personnel and their wages and collects and analyses health expenditure information, based on the System of Health Accounts methodology [74] (Fig. 3).

Two other authorities (HB and SAM) administered by the Ministry of Social Affairs have a slightly smaller role in the HIS. The **HB** [47,48] is responsible for maintaining the Estonian Health Care Professionals Register [75] and the Estonian Health Care Licenses Register [76]. In addition, the HB is the competent authority for surveillance, prevention and control of communicable diseases, including risk analysis in epidemiology [47,48]. The National Communicable Diseases Register is located at the HB [77]. The SAM [44,66] collects and systematizes data about drug use and evaluates information about adverse drug reactions. The Register of Medicinal Products [78] and Register of Activity Licences [79] have been created to facilitate the beforementioned functions. The SAM also records and monitors data related to cells, tissues and organs. The SAM publishes all the above-mentioned information on its website [44] (Fig. 3).





HTA: Health Technology Assessment; RaTeRa: Public Health Library.

The **CeHWIS** [46] is an information and communications technology (ICT) competence centre that manages and handles the national e-HIS and classifications (ICD-10, SNOMED, etc.).⁵ The e-HIS [80] is a uniform and standardized information exchange platform that collects data and uses it at individual level. The e-HIS connects all health care providers including the private sector and allows data exchange with other registries (e.g. the Population Register, EHIF database, etc.). The e-HIS stores millions of different health documents (case summaries, referrals, vaccinations, dental information, medical images, etc.) and events. The National

⁵ ICD-10 is the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th Revision. SNOMED is the Systematized Nomenclature of Medicine.

Patient Portal **[81]** and Picture Bank (medical images) are also part of the e-HIS **[46,80]**. The e-HIS statistical module has also been developed with the aim to become the main data source for health statistics **[82]**. This goal has not been achieved, due to problems with data quality and low capture **[83,84]** (Fig. 3).

The **EHIF** collects information, based on health insurance claim data in order to perform its functions. The EHIF analyses the quality of health care services and monitors waiting lists. It also analyses data on prescription drug reimbursement and sick leave benefits **[49,68]**. In order to accomplish these functions, the EHIF database **[85]** and the Medical Prescription Centre **[86]** were created (Fig. 3).

4.2 Data sources, collection and quality

The main data sources in Estonia are registries, databases and surveys. Collection, management and analysis of all kinds of personal health data in Estonia is regulated by the Personal Data Protection Act **[87]**. Data protection is the responsibility of the Estonian Data Protection Inspectorate **[88]** and follows the General Data Protection Regulation **[89]**. Data protection regulations are rather strict: the e-HIS is expected to achieve the highest – and registries the medium – security levels. The fulfilment of these requirements is regularly evaluated **[80,82]**.

4.2.1 REGISTRIES AND DATABASES

Estonia has 14 national health-related registries or databases (Fig. 3). All of them have statutes describing: the purpose; owner or authorized processor; main data providers; datasets; rules of procedures for data modification, access, extraction and dissemination; security measures; security levels; etc. [90–92].

The country also has the following health registries/databases.

- » The Drug Treatment Database contains data collected at an aggregated level [93].
- » The Myocardial Infarction Register is controlled by the Ministry of Social Affairs and located within the UT Hospital Information System [92,94].
- » The Cancer Screening Register is a digital registry. The data are obtained from the e-HIS via automatic data inquiries [92,95].
- » The Estonian HIV database (eHIV) is not a national database, but it is partially funded by the Ministry of Social Affairs. The data are used for national and international purposes. HIV patient data on demographic, clinical and biomaterial features are collected with informed consent (retrospectively and prospectively) [96].

According to multiple laws **[41,49,77,90–92]** all health care providers are obliged to collect health data into their information systems and these are the primary data sources for registries. Most data are collected electronically from health care service providers through the secured data exchange platform X-Road **[97]** and based on a patient identification code (ID-code). However, some registries are not sufficiently technically advanced to use it; in these cases, data are collected in parallel on paper or electronically (e.g., Medical Pregnancy Information System, Cancer Register, Tuberculosis Register).

All health care providers and registries use the ICD-10. In fact, a law requires that submission of data to medical registries, the EHIF databases, the e-HIS and the NIHD must be done according

to the ICD-10 [98]. Problems with data quality suggest that regular trainings for health care professionals are needed (e.g. for those providing data to the Cancer Register). The diagnostic-related group and Nordic Medico-Statistical Committee (NOMESCO) classifications are also used in Estonia [98].

All national registries exchange data with other national databases (mostly with the Population Register and other HIS databases e.g. Causes of Death Register) based on ID-codes through the X-Road data exchange platform. In addition to the previously mentioned health-related registries, other national non-health registries are used in order to enrich health data: the Population Register [99], Commercial Register [100], Social Security Information System [101], Traffic Register [102], Work Environment Database [103] and Education Information System [104].

Generally, data coverage and the quality of registries can be considered as high. Based on the WHO assessment in 2014 [105] of the Causes of Death Register, (2011–2012) data usability was 94%, the range of completeness was 100% and the range of garbage fraction was 5–8%. Other registers validate their data daily (Cancer Screening Register) by using automatic checks and controls. Quality assessments on cancer-related registries performed by scientists, for example on the Cancer Register [106] or as part of master's theses (two on the Cancer Register and one on the Cancer Screening Register), have also confirmed their high quality. Benchmarking and comparing register data with that from other databases, for example EHIF or health care provider information systems, also takes place but rather irregularly. Estonia's small population, as well as the small volume of data, makes it possible to also ensure data volume and quality checks with data providers through personal contacts and on a caseby-case basis (e.g. Medical Pregnancy Information System, Tuberculosis Register) [107]. The CeHWIS and the NIHD [83,84] constantly analyse the data quality of the e-HIS. However, automatic data controls used in the e-HIS are not specific enough to ensure sufficient data quality but are rather general and relate to logical algorithms. Functionality was added to the e-HIS statistical module so health care providers can see a summary of the errors and mistakes that their institution made while submitting data to the e-HIS. Unfortunately, this quality check option is not widely used [82].

4.2.2 SURVEYS

In addition to registries, surveys are also an important source of health-related data.

The NIHD carries out a number of regular and irregular population-based health surveys, which are financed from research funds and/or the state budget. These include: the Estonian Health Interview Survey; the Health Behaviour among Estonian Adult Population Survey; Health Behaviour in School-aged Children; European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs; and the WHO European Childhood Obesity Surveillance Initiative, etc. [108].

The Ministry of Social Affairs also conducts surveys, mainly in order to receive input for the policy-making process. Since 2000, the Ministry of Social Affairs and the EHIF have jointly conducted a population-based survey "Residents satisfaction with health and health care services". Annual reports of the Estonian alcohol market, consumption and policy are also compiled in collaboration with the Ministry of Social Affairs, the NIHD and the Estonian Institute of Economic Research. Similar reports on the tobacco market and use are also compiled after every second year [109].

Statistics Estonia is responsible for conducting a population and housing census and several other population surveys, for example the Estonian Health Interview Survey (in cooperation with the NIHD) and population-based surveys: the Household Budget Survey, the (EU-SILC) and the European Working Conditions Survey. Statistics Estonia has a publicly available, fee-free user-friendly database and publishes statistics about the population (including vital events and life expectancy), social life (including health status, healthy life years, access to health care and number of disabled people), sustainable development, economy, environment, integration, etc. [110].

4.3 Dissemination and monitoring

4.3.1 DISSEMINATION

Currently, there is no integrated data warehouse that contains health and other sector-related data (e.g. social or labour, etc.). However, there is a plan to develop a state-level tool in order to secure data storage, integration, access and analysis to enhance the use of large and detailed health and lifecycle datasets. The aim of the tool is to stipulate the creation of new solutions and interventions that will help to prolong healthy life years. This tool is expected to provide a data analysis environment for governmental employees and researchers by allowing access to aggregated data from different sources (governmental and nongovernmental), which will consist of partly encrypted data with encryption/decryption tools and methodology, and that data will flow from runtime information systems to the data warehouse [111].

The Health Statistics and Health Research Database **[112]** is a widely used, user-friendly dissemination tool that contains Estonia's largest set of health-related data. It contains data collected by the NIHD and other institutions (SAM, EHIF, HB, Myocardial Infarction Register, etc.) **[113]**. For example, it includes data collected by the SAM on the pharmaceutical market (e.g. number of pharmacies, including hospital pharmacies, expenditure on medicines per inhabitant, etc.), drug consumption (defined daily dose/1000 inhabitants/day, by the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical classification groups) and cells and organs. It also contains HB data on infectious diseases cases as well as information on immunization coverage **[112]**. It is publicly available and free of charge. The EHIF recently introduced a user-friendly, publicly available and fee-free database **[114]**. It has a similar design as the Statistics Estonia and the NIHD databases. In addition, the EHIF also publishes visualizations of clinical care quality and care integration indicators in its publicly accessible indicators module **[68]**.

Other institutions (HB and SAM) disseminate health information on their websites, but the information is not published in a user-friendly format; the HB publishes data tables in a PDF format [82]. Other ways to disseminate health information are also used – reports, infographics, visualizations and press releases – and the NIHD also organizes health statistics information days [107].

The National Patient Portal, which is part of the e-HIS, provides access to personal health data. Everyone with a national personal ID-code and identification card may access the portal. In the portal, patients can view their health records that have been submitted to the e-HIS. They can also view the total cost of treatment paid by the EHIF, appoint representatives for different activities (e.g. purchasing prescription medicine), make declarations of intent and register for doctor appointments. In addition, they can see who has viewed their health data and when. Additional functionality and information will be added to the portal [**81**].

4.3.2 INDICATORS AND MONITORING

The national minimum core indicators are listed in the NHP [52], which has five strategic areas, each with its own subobjectives (for more information about the NHP, see section 3.1.1). NHP performance is assessed by tracking 61 indicators that cover: demographic and socioeconomic characteristics (four indicators); health status (23 indicators); health determinants (15 indicators); and health interventions (health services and health promotion; 19 indicators). The indicators are monitored annually and reported in the NHP activity report, which also covers information about activities implemented in the previous year. A separate performance report for the NHP is composed biennially. This is a more detailed report where indicators include socioeconomic dimensions and the situation is described more in depth. Both of the reports are discussed by the NHP Steering Committee and submitted to the Government [52].

Most NHP indicators are based on mortality and morbidity data. Indicators, which are based on survey data, can be disaggregated by demographic characteristics (e.g. sex, age), socioeconomic status (income, occupation, education) and locality (e.g. urban/rural, major geographical or administrative region). However, there are shortcomings related to data disaggregation by socioeconomic group in the registries. Disaggregation of registry data can only be performed by linking data with other databases or census data [82], but it is not often performed as the process is rather bureaucratic and time-consuming due to the Data Protection Inspectorate permission that must be obtained [87,88]. As the process of data linking is rather difficult, it makes sense to do it over a longer time interval, for example after every 5 years [107]. At the same time, considering the policy-making process, this is too long of a time period [115].

Performance metrics (e.g. average length of stay, bed occupancy rates, number of beds, etc.) and other indicators are calculated based on data collected by the NIHD. The NIHD takes part in the OECD quality indicators programme and has been reporting data on health care service quality indicators to it since 2016 [60]. The EHIF established the Advisory Board for the Development of Quality Indicators, and since 2012 the EHIF has calculated and published a selection of clinical care quality indicators of the Hospital Network Development Plan hospitals using the EHIF indicators module [68]. Additionally, the EHIF also publishes care integration indicators. The WB developed these indicators in 2015 and they are calculated based on claims data [17]. In order to increase family doctors' performance, a quality bonus system has been developed, which includes three domains: disease prevention, chronic disease management and additional activities. The EHIF annually calculates and publishes quality bonus system indicators on its website [17].

The NIHD in cooperation with the Ministry of Social Affairs has developed Health and Welfare Profiles for counties and local governments. The profiles aim to raise awareness in municipalities and counties about their population health situation and health determinants. They were created in order to help professionals, decision-makers and politicians from different fields to better understand health issues and to enhance cross-sectorial cooperation in order to improve health. They include more than 90 indicators [116], which are similar to those in the NHP or available in public databases (NIHD and Statistics Estonia) at the county and local government levels. Since 2018, the compilation of profiles for a county or region has been obligatory [92].

The Ministry of Social Affairs has been taking the lead in developing cancer care quality indicators as part of its work on the Cancer Care Quality Advisory Board, but this activity is currently on hold as, among other things, the Cancer Registry reporting form has yet to be digitized [17].

As described above, the development of quality and performance monitoring indicators is fragmented between different institutions while some activities are overlapping [17]. Therefore, there is a clear need to agree on a systematized list of health system monitoring indicators and objectives. The list of NHP indicators is not enough to monitor the quality and performance of the health system, but it is sufficient to monitor generally the NHP [82,107]. The systematized list could also include indicators that need to be developed and would contribute to the development of databases [82,107]. In order to improve the current situation, it is necessary to centralize different activities under one management to avoid duplication [82]. Furthermore, there is a clear need to incentivize the use of e-health and health care provider information systems in a way that will boost the development of indicators based on e-health data as the EHIF's invoicing data covers limited clinical information, which is essential for quality monitoring [17].

4.4 Limitations of HIS

4.4.1 GOVERNANCE

According to the Official Statistics Act [117], the two producers of official statistics are Statistics Estonia [69] and the Bank of Estonia (*Eesti Pank*) [118]. Their role is to provide demographic, social, economic and environmental data to inform knowledge-based development plans and data for forecasts, policies, and scientific and applied research [117]. The NIHD, one of the main producers of health statistics, is not mentioned in the Official Statistics Act.

In 2015, the Government approved the Estonian eHealth vision until year 2025 and the Estonian eHealth Strategic Development Plan 2020 [119]. However, no written comprehensive HIS strategic plan exists. Over the years, under the leadership of the Ministry of Social Affairs, there have been two attempts to develop a HIS strategic plan. The first attempt [120] was submitted to the Government for approval but did not receive it. This document gave a brief overview of the current state of health statistics, its problems, goals for the coming years and actions that need to be taken. The second attempt was in 2012-2013, when only a draft document of the health information vision [121] was prepared. It provided an overview of the sources that collect health statistics data and health statistics issues, the aims of health information and how these overlap with other data sources, and an overview of the short- and long-term goals of the vision. This attempt was also unsuccessful. As a result, the Estonian HIS lacks a clear direction and management, and institutions involved in health data collection act according to their own objectives. A stronger leadership role is needed as the HIS is currently poorly organized and fragmented [107], which not only causes duplication of activities and hampers the exchange of data and knowledge sharing, but also causes lost opportunities for research and policy support [82].

Based on the Eurostat report on health care non-expenditure statistics (2018), dissemination of Estonian data is quite good and Estonia is one of six countries that have achieved the highest rate (87%) in the physical resources module of availability of recent data [122]. The NIHD mainly provides data to international organizations: WHO, Eurostat and the OECD. The HB provides data on infectious diseases to the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control [47]. Cooperation is essential for data submission and analysis. International cooperation can be considered as good, but local cooperation is lagging behind and needs further improvements. Cooperation is ongoing in the area of data publishing, for example

in the NIHD Health Statistics and Health Research Database. Some data analyses are also carried out in cooperation with different institutions, but they vary depending on the working process/culture of institutions, departments and/or people involved. However, conducting evaluations and providing analyses in collaboration with different organizations are not very common and that causes overlap [107].

4.4.2 DATA USE AND DISSEMINATION

While health data are generally widely available, policy-makers found that they are published after a long delay, in particular the Cancer Register and health care expenditure data. In addition, more detailed and specific data are needed [107], for example, nutrition data, environmental health-related survey data, etc. Policy-makers also stressed that data analysis or survey reports are more descriptive than analytical and do not give policy recommendations, making it difficult to act on them. User-friendliness is another concern raised by policy-makers; reports are too long and an executive overview is often not provided (e.g. a one pager) [82,115]. In order to promote the use of data, one option is to compose prediction models, for example in the way that the EHIF models sustainability of health care financing and the demand for health care services; however, this approach is not widely used [82,115]. In addition, policy-makers need integrated health reports, which also describe population health combined with socioeconomic status data (e.g. income, occupation, education, etc.). Therefore, this is certainly one direction where people who compile reports and analyses should aspire [115]. This can be done by linking data from multiple data sources, as described in previous subsections, which is currently time-consuming and bureaucratic [87,88].

Box 4 summarizes key opportunities and challenges for EIP considering the HIS.

Box 4. Summary of key opportunities and challenges for future EIP efforts considering the HIS

Challenges

- » The HIS lacks centralized management and a decision-making body (often found in a comprehensive HIS) and a comprehensive written HIS strategic plan.
- » The development of quality and performance indicators is currently fragmented causing overlap between different institutions.
- » Data capture and quality need further improvement (e-HIS data and trainings on the use of ICD-10 are required).
- » Data are published after a long delay, in particular the Cancer Register and health care expenditure data.
- » Data protection regulation makes linking and using different data sources complicated and time consuming.
- » Over the years, policy-makers' needs for health information have changed from descriptive to more analytical reports, for example, analysis of causes and relationships, evaluations/assessments, predictions, etc.
- » Reports are not in a user-friendly format and need to more clearly, easily and concisely explain data analysis results.

Box 4. Contd.

Opportunities

- » Several institutions or departments inside and outside the government structure contribute to the HIS.
- » Regular communication between HIS stakeholders could reduce miscommunication and overlapping activities.
- » Health data are generally disseminated fee-free in databases and in a user-friendly format.
- » Collected and analysed health data mainly cover the needs of policy-makers.
- » Creating a convenient data linkage system that combines data from different sources could help to improve the use of data and offer more opportunities to support EIP by producing analytical reports that explore relations, causalities, etc.

5. THE NATIONAL HEALTH RESEARCH SYSTEM

This section describes key actors, policy frameworks, available resources and the environment of health research in Estonia.

5.1 Stewardship

The goals of Estonian research are guided by the Estonian Research and Development and Innovation Strategy 2014–2020 **[123]** whose main goal is integrating science with specific economic and societal challenges in order to move efficiently towards a knowledge-based society. The general governance of the Estonian research system is the responsibility of the Research Policy Committee **[124]** whose work is led and coordinated by the Ministry of Education and Research **[125]** and the Research and Development Council **[126]**, housed within the Government Office. The Research Policy Committee advises the Ministry of Education and Research in its research-related political decisions, for example, general principles of research funding and, based on evaluation or research excellence, funding decisions for research institutions; the Research and Development Council provides advice to the State Government on research-related topics and suggests priorities for research and development (R&D) activities in the country. The recommendations by these two commissions are put into practice by the ERC. However, neither of these bodies and agencies deals specifically with health-related research.

A vision for health research and innovation (R&I) activities in the form of the Research, Development and Innovation Strategy for the Estonian Health System 2015–2020 **[127]** was developed in 2015 by request of the Ministry of Social Affairs. This Strategy highlights the misalignment between the current knowledge base and the needs of the national health system, due to the Estonian R&D system's focus on basic research and the inability of the health system to define R&D needs. It sets out a series of key actions that are prerequisites for successful health R&D activities. These key actions are: increasing the research and innovation capacity of health care providers, organizing research based on the needs of the health system and testing innovative solutions, developing an exemplary health data infrastructure and efficient organization of research and innovation in the health field.

Despite the Strategy being in place, no detailed action plan was developed. The NHP **[52]** includes some activities that support the Strategy (for more information, see sections 3.1.1 and 4.3.2). However, due to a lack of funds, most of the Strategy's broad activities have not been realized and no current implementation plan exists. The general vision of the Ministry of Social Affairs is that health-related R&D activities have to be integrated into and directly support the goals of the NHP **[52]**: to increase social cohesion and reduce inequality in health, decrease mortality and primary morbidity in mental and behavioural disorders among children and young people, reduce the health risks from the surrounding environment, increase the physical activity of the population, ensure balanced nutrition and decrease the level of lifestyle-related risk behaviours, and ensure equal access to high-quality health care services through optimal
use of resources. However, as no specific national health R&D implementation plan has been put in place, health researchers have difficulty understanding the needs of the Government and the Ministry of Social Affairs [128].

Instead, the nature and direction of health research – carried out primarily at public universities (e.g. UT, Tallinn University of Technology (TalTech), Tallinn University (TLU)), in competence centres [129] such as the Competence Centre on Health Technologies [130], in health care colleges and in the government-owned NIHD – has been and is currently driven by past activities of these institutions and by research interests of leading researchers as well as by the topics of financed research projects. This has led to relatively poor links between general health research carried out in the country and governmental needs, as also concluded by an evaluation report of Estonian R&D institutions in 2017 [131] and highlighted by interviews with policy-makers [132]. As a result, it is highly likely that policy-makers have a relatively modest interest in research carried out at universities and research institutions, and that researchers are not motivated to work on socially important issues. The most likely reasons leading to these poor links and, thus, hindering KT and knowledge utilization, as well as recent efforts to improve the communication and KT process, are discussed in section 5.3.

5.2 Financial and human resources

5.2.1 FINANCIAL RESOURCES

In general, R&D spending in Estonia (0.6% of public funding plus 0.7% of private funding in 2017 **[133]**) is lower than the average in EU countries (the EU28⁶ average spending for research was 0.7% public funding and 1.3% private funding). This may have severe impacts on KT but as crucially, on knowledge production. Fortunately, in December 2018, leading political parties in Estonia signed a political agreement increasing public funding for R&D to 1% of GDP by 2022 **[134]**. As of May 2019, it has become evident that this financing goal may not be achieved by the timeframe that was agreed initially.

Statistics show that both public (156 million euros) and private sources (148 million euros) funded research in 2017 **[133]**, but medical and health-oriented research is mainly carried out using public money. This can be concluded from the fact that 96% of researchers active in health or the medical sciences work in the public sector (in 2015, 609 researchers compared with 27 in the private sector) **[135]** and that 95% of public sector research is supported by public sources.⁷ As basic and applied research is mainly conducted in public R&D institutions (i.e., the private sector is mainly focusing on product development), the fact that the private sector is essentially not financing publicly conducted research is a reflection of its relatively low interest in collaborating with researchers and research in general.

The ERC is the main funding body for public research **[136]** primarily funding projects through open calls (i.e., not thematically ordered) in all areas. In 2018, the ERC invested around 40 million

⁶ EU28: the European Union Member States as of 1 July 2013.

According to the Estonian Board of Statistics, only 5.5% of R&D expenditure, i.e., 8 million of 148 million euros of total private R&D expenditure in 2017 was invested in the public sector, including public R&D institutions.

euros in research projects through open calls, and from this 15% (around 6 million euros)⁸ was used for health research. The ERC provides additional funds for health researchers in the form of baseline funding to institutions on the basis of their research excellence to be used for R&D or supporting activities that are agreed with the specific institution. Funds to researchers are also provided through the European Structural Funds, for example, in the form of centres of excellence, national research infrastructures, networks, collaborative projects, etc. The use of European Structural Funds for general R&D purposes in Estonia has been successful. Almost 15% of the nearly 4.4 billion euros of the European Structural Funds in 2014–2020 was used for R&D purposes [137]. Although the fraction of funds used for health research is not reported in detail, one may assume that a similar proportion of the European Structural Funds was also used for R&D in the health sector. This high use of foreign money for R&D may seriously threaten future work, creating unsustainable research and insecurity among researchers.

Health research that is driven by policy needs is directly ordered by the Ministry of Social Affairs and as discussed above (for more information, see sections 3.1 and 4.2.2), is based on the agenda and priorities of the NHP **[52]**. A large part of these directed R&D activities is partially (up to 50%) financed by the European Structural Funds and the ERC managed programme (2016–2020) RITA that aims to increase the role of the state in the strategic managing of research and the capabilities of R&D institutions in carrying out socially relevant research **[138]**. Research funded by the RITA programme supports strategic R&D activities for knowledge-based policy formulation, monitors the achievement of objectives of implemented policies and provides recommendations on the formulation of new policies **[138]**.

The total yearly R&D&I spending of the Ministry of Social Affairs in 2018 was between 7 and 8 million euros [139] but R&D spending for health was estimated at 1.2 million euros [140]. This amount is significantly lower than that given by the ERC for health research through open calls and is likely insufficient to achieve full R&D support for policy-making. It is worth mentioning that governmental funding for health R&D activities in Finland in 2017 was 69 million euros [141], around 10 times higher than that in Estonia. Another current problem with health research policy is the lack of central focus. As discussed previously, although the Estonian Research and Development and Innovation Strategy for the health system is in place, it is not supported by an implementation plan and thus, the strategic management of health research is lacking. For better coordination, the Board of Medical Sciences of the UT has suggested initiating a national clinical research programme aimed at integrating medical research and clinical practice [142]. Also, the Ministry of Social Affairs has named a Health Research and Innovation Council [143] as an advisory body to steer health research. However, setting up the research programme has been held back by a lack of funds, and the greatest challenge of the Health Research and Innovation Council has been to involve in a timely fashion its high-level members who have limited availability (time) in the Ministry's R&D planning process.

⁸ According to the ERC (<u>https://www.etag.ee/tegevused/uuringud-ja-statistika/statistika/konkurentsipohised-uurimistoetused/</u>), the share of funds used for health research has been more or less steady at 19%, 11%, 14%, 16%, 20% and 15% of the total investments in research projects in 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018, respectively.

5.2.2 HUMAN RESOURCES

Health researchers are mainly trained at the UT, which offers degrees in medicine and health sciences (dentistry, pharmacy, physiotherapy, physical education, nursing, public health and medical science, neuroscience) at the Bachelor of Science, Master of Science and Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) levels. Additionally, health researchers are also trained at two other universities –TalTech and TLU – although in limited areas. TalTech offers a Master of Science in Health Care Technology, which is largely focused on digital health technology and e-health, biomedical technology and medical physics. TLU offers the Health Behaviour and Wellbeing PhD programme.

The career path for trained health researchers may include working as a researcher at the UT or the NIHD; a combination of clinical research and medical practice is also possible and encouraged considering the high level of competition for research grants (e.g., the success rate of project applications in the only call announced in 2018 by the ERC was 13.8% [144]). In addition, the salary of researchers, which has always been slightly higher than the country's average salary (125% in 2007 and 109% in 2016) may not be high enough to attract new talent considering the long training period. Thus, unfortunately many trained (health) researchers move abroad or (partially) leave research, for example, to work in health care, or take an adviser or consultant position, for better job security and a higher income. For example, a recent study on the career paths of PhDs revealed that the percentage of PhDs who continue in an academic career is lowest in the medical and health sector at just 35% while 45% continue with a combined career path and 20% leave academia [145].

According to Statistics Estonia **[135]** in 2016, just 11.8% (600 researchers) of the 5063 total researchers in the country work in non-profit organizations (higher education organizations, government sector, non-profit private sector) in the area of medical sciences (health was not reported separately in this statistical analysis). Among the 600 health researchers, 31% had obtained a Master of Science degree or its equivalent and the remaining (69%) possessed a PhD degree or its equivalent. The highest proportion of health and medicine-related researchers are associated with the UT and many of them are linked with Tartu University Hospital. Significantly, fewer health researchers are active in the private sector than in the non-profit sector, with only 27 researchers (1.02% of the total 2657 researchers in the private sector) in 2016.

5.3 Production and use

5.3.1 ENVIRONMENT AND THE CAPACITY TO PRODUCE RESEARCH

The UT, TalTech, TLU, two health care colleges (one in Tartu, the other in Tallinn) and the NIHD undertake the bulk of health research in Estonia. The UT hosts the Estonian Genome Center within the Institute of Genomics, which collects and analyses population-based genomic data and is partly financed by the Ministry of Social Affairs according to the Human Genes Research Act [146].

Regular evaluation of Estonian R&D in 2017 **[147]** showed that in general, Estonian researchers, including health researchers, are well equipped with access to various research infrastructures as well as international research databases. Health researchers also have access to various national registries (for more information, see section 4.2.1) with a permit from an ethics

committee and the Estonian Data Protection Inspectorate as set out by the Public Health Act [92]. Although accessing health data from national databases and registries by researchers is feasible, efforts to link all the databases may still encounter incompatibility issues (for more information, see section 4.3.2) [127].

The Estonian research environment is generally very open to international partners (through the ERC, a number of EU partnerships and the European Strategy Forum on Research Infrastructures roadmap projects are available to researchers) but also to national players; Estonian researchers and their projects are well connected and searchable in the Estonian Research Information System that currently shows 109 projects using the search term "health" and 46 projects using "medicine" within the ERC-funded projects.

5.3.2 REGULATION AND OUTPUTS

Health research, which often involves a series of ethical aspects, is efficiently coordinated in Estonia and a well-coordinated political framework regarding research involving human subjects is in place. All studies involving human subjects, especially testing and research on drug candidates, are regulated by legal acts [148,149] that are based on good clinical practices and the declaration of the World Medical Assembly [150]. In 2010, the National Centre of Translational and Clinical Research was set up (and added to the Estonian Research Infrastructures Roadmap) with the goal to advise medical researchers on good clinical practice and ethical issues [151].

Scientific outputs of Estonian researchers have steadily increased. While the number of researchers between 2001 and 2014 has remained constant, the number of Institute for Scientific Information Web of Science indexed research papers has increased from 914 to 2391 (i.e. from 15% to 26% of all publications) and the influence of articles from Estonian authors has steadily risen [152] demonstrating an increase in the quality of published research papers. Estonian health researchers may also publish articles in Estonian in the national medical peer-reviewed journal *Eesti Arst (Estonian Physician)* [153], a monthly journal of the Estonian Medical Association (for more information, see section 3.2), financially supported by the Ministry of Social Affairs.

Despite an increasing publication rate and higher quality publications, few studies find their way to policy-makers. The reasons for this could be the high number of fundamental and specific studies/basic research, the highly complex representation of research results, a low level of awareness of research results among state officials and poor dissemination of research results to policy-makers.

Even though research projects exist that theoretically could contribute to policy-making, their funding resources and, thus, foci and requirements are diverse, and there is a high risk that their outcomes will not be incorporated into policy-making and that their collective potential to increase the efficacy of the current health system will be low. Moreover, very few studies focus on health systems, i.e., implementation research **[154]** and health policy and only a few researchers are interested in that topic. Most of such analyses, if ordered by the Ministry of Social Affairs, are performed on a case-by-case basis by consulting companies **[109]**.

"We don't have researchers who would assess the health system in a dynamic way and who would pilot new ideas in certain settings before they are applied nationwide." (Policy-maker)

5.3.3 ACCESS AND USE

In addition to a low awareness level of research results among policy-makers, access to health research is another obvious factor hindering the spread of research results to the policy-making process. First, research results are poorly accessible. Currently, only two publicly accessible research databases exist in Estonia: the Centre of Medical Information (Medinfokeskus) [155] and the UT Public Health Library [156]. The former provides information on electronic journals and e-books ordered by the UT and the latter collects open access full-text publications on various different health-related topics. Other full-text scientific papers from other databases are usually not fee-free, for example, to employees of the Ministry of Social Affairs and, thus, even if interested, policy-makers have difficulties accessing research. Currently, the ERC encourages the publishing of research results with an open access licence in order to increase accessibility among researchers as well as a wider audience.

"We don't know about the research that has been done and we don't have access to it." (Policy-maker)

Second, accessibility of research results also depends on the way the results are presented. Research outputs that are not presented in a clear and easy-to-understand way are still meant to be used by policy-makers and the general public. For example, the lack of easy-to-understand research results was highlighted as one of the main issues hindering the use of research by policy-makers [132,157].

"Our research is too scientific and not usable in policymaking processes." (Policy-maker)

The exchange of clearly presented research data can only happen if a platform or network is in place. Currently, the exchange of messages from researchers to policy-makers is mostly based on personal contacts. For example, studies by Estonian researchers on genetic risks for certain diseases have been well communicated to policy-makers so that today the clinical significance of genetic risk scores is being validated, and preparations are ongoing to include (personalized) genetic risk prediction to the health care system.

"We should have formal ways on how we can work together with researchers. Personto-person communication that we use today is not sustainable – when the person leaves, contact and collaboration will also disappear with it." (Policy-maker)

From the researchers' point of view, the reasons why research results do not reach policy- and decisionmakers are likely two-fold. First, researchers are under pressure to publish high-level research papers that leave them little time for dissemination and popularization activities. Second, researchers do not usually see the merit in KT and KB because they do not have a clear understanding of the use of their results [157]. Improving the current situation would require efforts from both decision-makers (i.e., knowledge users) and researchers (i.e., knowledge producers). Simplifying research results may also be achieved through the actions of specialized translational scientists. Given the position of the NIHD and its close relationship with the Ministry of Social Affairs, it is the best suited institutional actor for this role, to provide KT services and by that, help to improve EIP in the future. Since 2016, all Estonian ministries and the Government Office could employ research advisers to act as translators between scientists and policy-makers [158]. The system of scientific advisers was introduced as part of the ERCmanaged RITA programme mentioned before. The Ministry of Social Affairs hired a research adviser for health in 2018 whose main tasks are to advise the Ministry on health R&D issues, plan national and international cooperation on health R&D, develop plans for health R&D needs, organize collaboration with networks of researchers and represent Estonia in international R&D activities/partnerships [159]. The Ministry of Social Affairs has also started other activities to improve the KB process; for example, information days incorporating presentations on policy-relevant research projects from health researchers have been planned since 2019. The Board of Research and Innovation in Health Policy is also expected to contribute to KB and its tasks include, among others, keeping the Ministry of Social Affairs informed on health R&D activities in the country [143].

Box 5 summarizes key opportunities and challenges for EIP considering the national health research system.

Box 5. Summary of key opportunities and challenges for future EIP efforts considering the national health research system

Challenges

- » Estonian national public funding for research (0.6% in 2017) is lower than the average of EU countries and the funding is unsecured being largely project-based.
- » Estonian research, including that of health, is too dependent on foreign (EU) funds and that may seriously threaten future work, creating insecurity among researchers and unsustainable research.
- » No specific national health R&D implementation plan exists and health researchers have difficulties understanding the needs of policy-makers.
- » Current research funding does not support implementation research and other activities that are essential for EIP; thus, very few studies focus on health systems and too few researchers are interested in this topic.
- » Few research studies find their way to policy-makers and to the process of policy making due to:
 - the lack of knowledge about studies by policy-makers;
 - the lack of access to research databases;
 - research results presented in a highly complex way and a lack of easy-to-understand research results;
 - a lack of information sharing platforms, discussion and collaboration between policy-makers and researchers; and
 - researchers who do not usually see the merit in KT and KB because they do not have a clear understanding of the use of their results.

Opportunities

- » Health research in Estonia is of high quality and researchers are active in international networks.
- » There is strong public support for research evidence.
- » The Ministry of Social Affairs has employed a research adviser for health policy, to improve communication between researchers and policy-makers.
- » The Ministry of Social Affairs has set up a Board of Research and Innovation in Health Policy, whose mandate is to participate in health R&D priority setting and KT; its greatest challenge has been limited capability and (e.g., time) resources to contribute actively.

6. EIP PROCESS

This section on EIP processes describes already established EIP efforts and gives insight on how the health system, the HIS and the health research system interface within these. The use of research knowledge and evidence has played a role in the policy-making process, however, frequently through ad hoc processes, for example by ad hoc consulting (research) experts, the occasional referencing of scientific papers in policy proposals or by preparing policy briefs. These types of efforts are a starting point on which to build further EIP efforts. To date, more systemic efforts in bridging the gap between research and policy have been observed in the areas of HTA, clinical guidelines development and in public health, with the process of developing green papers and implementation plans. The major actors in EIP processes in Estonia have all been mentioned in the preceding sections. These include the Ministry of Social Affairs, the NIHD, the HB, the SAM, the EHIF, the CeHWIS, WHO, universities and other nongovernmental organizations (for more information, see section 3.1 and section 4.1).

6.1 Current EIP processes and practices

In Estonia, a few systems promoting the continuous use of evidence in policy processes are already in place. For example, **the Centre for HTA** (part of the Institute of Family Medicine and Public Health at the UT) provides evidence that is mainly used by the EHIF to make health care-related decisions about adding new diagnostic and treatment options to the list of health care services, and by the Ministry of Social Affairs to make decisions on the reimbursement of pharmaceuticals and on public health interventions. The HTA advisory board consists of members from the Ministry of Social Affairs, the EHIF, the SAM, the NIHD, the UT, the Estonian Medical Association and the Estonian Family Doctors' Association [160]. The advisory board's tasks are to submit and select topics for reports, to approve the experts who are engaged in the HTA process, and to observe and ensure the quality of reports. In addition, it also gives advice on competence development and supporting institutional structures related to the HTA, and approves the annual action plan (including trainings) and budget for the Centre for HTA [161]. The Centre is financed from the state budget through the Ministry of Social Affairs, and the recommendations and conclusions arising from the HTA are used to adjust medical practice and clinical guidelines according to emerging evidence.

When developing a report, a team usually comprises 2–3 members of the Centre for HTA and 2–3 clinical specialists or health care experts (based on contracts). As a first step, an overview of research literature is compiled, followed by data analysis and the formulation of conclusions and recommendations. All of the work is carried out in close collaboration with the Centre for HTA and engaged specialists and experts. The methodology and different guidelines that are used (for experts, for searching the literature, for the content of the report, etc.) are all publicly available on the Centre for HTA website [160]. The reports have been well received by different health care parties and the results have been used in order to solve multiple problems that are important in Estonia [162].

To define its benefit package, the EHIF conducts an extensive evaluation process for including, or excluding, any intervention to, or from, the benefits package [163]. The Health Insurance Act [51] sets out four criteria for changing the benefits package:

- » medical efficacy
- » cost-effectiveness
- » appropriateness and compliance with national health policy
- » the availability of financial resources.

An application for the inclusion of a new intervention or a price change must be supported by documentation for each of the four criteria from specialists' associations and the providers making the application. Based on the application, the supporting documentation, the budget impact and the advice of the advisory committee on the list of health-care services, the EHIF Supervisory Board makes a recommendation to the Ministry of Social Affairs and the Ministry in turn makes a recommendation to the government [164]. In the case of medicines, a separate advisory committee on medicines [164] makes recommendations to the Ministry of Social Affairs [165]. The advisory committee on the list of health-care services consists of 13 members, three state and 10 medical speciality or provider and patient representatives [164]. The advisory committee on medicines has at least eight members: three state, two medical specialities or providers, one university and two patient representatives [165]. The EHIF ensures that the services and medicine covered from the state budget and financed through the EHIF are evidence-based.

In recent years, Estonia has made substantial progress in the area of evidence-based practices. This includes establishing adequate evidence-based **health care standards as well as improving and harmonizing the procedures for clinical guideline development**. The EHIF coordinates the development of clinical guidelines. An advisory board, established and financed by the EHIF, leads guideline development and is responsible for improving and ensuring the quality of services by managing the development of cost-effective and evidence-based guidelines in Estonia. Led by the UT Dean of the Faculty of Medicine or a substitute, the advisory board comprises 12 members appointed for three years. The current members of the board are from the Ministry of Social Affairs, the SAM, the EHIF, the NIHD, the UT (two members), the Tartu Health Care College and different professional organizations in the field of health (five members) [61]. A panel of experts is formed for every guideline that is developed [166]. Guideline development is done in collaboration with a panel of experts and a permanent secretariat of medical guidelines [167]. The permanent secretariat is responsible to ensure that the guideline development process uses the methodology outlined in the handbook [168], the quality of guidelines and that they are consistent with evidence-based medicine [167].

With regard to public health topics, evidence has been used in policy-making processes in different ways. One example is the **green papers** on alcohol **[169]** and tobacco **[170]** policy that have been approved and are being implemented. The Green Paper on Nutrition and Physical Activity **[171]** is still under development. Another is the Ministry of Social Affairs' specific **implementation plans** (e.g. HIV **[172]**) that have been developed. The NHP Steering Committee agrees on the topics for green papers and implementation plans and monitors their progress (for more information, see section 3.1.1). For every green paper or implementation plan, a working group is formed, usually led by a representative of the Ministry of Social Affairs. The working group consists of members from research, governmental and nongovernmental organizations. The development process of a green paper or implementation plan starts by

defining the problem and its magnitude, followed by collecting evidence on best practices and policy options. The Ministry of Social Affairs Analysis and Statistics Department's role in the process is to provide an overview of the current situation and the problems based on available data. Gathering research evidence is mostly done by specialists from the Ministry of Social Affairs and the NIHD usually with WHO support (for more information, see section 3.1.1). Throughout the process, PDs take place with a wide range of stakeholders (e.g. policy-makers, researchers, service providers, industry, health care providers, etc.) to discuss problems and possible solutions and to reach agreement. While the development process of green papers and implementation plans is somewhat well-defined, implementation remains a challenge as it is largely dependent on political choices and preferences [132].

To summarize the above-mentioned processes (e.g. HTA, EHIF benefit package evaluation, clinical guidelines development), it can be said that they are rather well received by different stakeholders. All of them have developed guidance or a handbook defining work procedures, and they have permanent functioning bodies in order to support the everyday work in a sustainable and transparent way (e.g. Centre for HTA, EHIF advisory committees, permanent secretariat of medical guidelines). In addition, they all engage experts and specialists according to need and have good interlinkages with stakeholders (e.g. HTA advisory board, EHIF Supervisory Board, clinical guidelines advisory board) who direct the work. This ensures that the products are relevant to policy and used by policy- and decision-makers or in the case of clinical guidelines, by health-care practitioners. As the before-mentioned boards consist of a wide range of different parties (policy-makers and representatives of research, health care and patient representatives), they can be considered as balanced, neutral and free of political influence.

No developed standards and guidelines exist for green papers and implementation plans. So far, the main work of gathering data and evidence has been done in collaboration with the Ministry of Social Affairs and the NIHD with WHO support. WHO works with the Ministry of Social Affairs and the NIHD during the preparatory phase to gather and assess research evidence, in part to address a lack of access and skills in this area. International organizations often have access to evidence reports synthesizing the best available evidence. National researchers have played a smaller role in the process, mostly taking part in working group discussions. In some cases, the neutrality of those gathering evidence is called into question: industry has claimed that evidence contradictory to the recommended policy options has been neglected. There have also been cases where neutral stakeholders have started to support industry (not evidence-based) proposals during the PD. This is probably due to a lack of knowledge and trust in the presented research evidence but also to the persuasiveness of industry compared with other stakeholders during the PD.

6.2 Examples of research use

While no systematic process for research use exists in Estonia, two recent examples of researchto-policy translation are: the Green Paper on Nutrition and Physical Activity that focuses on the sugar-sweetened beverages tax and widening health insurance coverage by moving towards universal health coverage.

Two members of EVIPNet Chile gathered and appraised research evidence for the EBP on reducing the consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages and their negative health impact in Estonia [7], as the team from Estonia, comprising members from the Ministry of Social Affairs,

the NIHD and the UT, did not have access to research databases (except the UT) and the proper skills to do it. The WHO EBP guideline was used and web-based trainings for the Estonian team members were provided. Web-based trainings concentrated on the EBP guideline and tools that can be used during the work process and were conducted using a step-by-step approach. An employee from the Ministry of Social Affairs Analysis and Statistics Department led the team, with guidance and support from WHO EVIPNet Europe and EVIPNet Chile; the latter had the secretariat role, which was needed during the process. EVIPNet Chile also reviewed, guided and gave advice during the entire EBP development process. The EBP was well received by stakeholders (except industry) and led to the development of the draft act to tax sugarsweetened beverages [173]. Parliament approved the act but in the end, it did not come into force [174]. Nonetheless it showed that systematic use of evidence can strongly guide and support EIP processes [8,174] (Box 6).

"The evidence use process (EBP, modelling study) that was in place is something we should opt in the future as well. It gives a solid scientific background and argumentative facts to deal with the topic among stakeholders and the public." (Policy-maker)

Box 6. The sugar-sweetened beverages tax

The idea to introduce a sugar-sweetened beverages tax was raised during the development process of the Green Paper on Nutrition and Physical Activity **[171]**. A multisectoral working group was formed for the Green Paper, led by the Ministry of Social Affairs and comprised industry, different specialized organizations, parents' association, other ministries, TLU, the UT, the NIHD and the EHIF. The same working group was also used to further explore the idea of a sugar-sweetened beverages tax. The EBP **[7]** was developed in collaboration with EVIPNet Chile and supported by WHO.

The role of evidence in the form of the EBP was present during the entire process but had much more influence in the beginning (problem definition, defining policy options). When the acceptance from the Government to move forward with the tax was received and the legislation change went into practical implementation details, the evidence did not play much of a role. With the help of WHO, estimates of the potential impact of the tax on certain diseases and the obesity rate were made in order to inform decision makers and the public **[175]**. The evidence used to develop the EBP was gathered and appraised based on the EVIPNet EBP guidelines with the help of EVIPNet Chile, and the EBP was very well received by stakeholders.

In order to make informed decisions on widening the coverage of health insurance, the Ministry of Social Affairs ordered an evaluation from PRAXIS **[58]**. The purpose was to identify the uninsured and to give advice on policy measures to widen health care coverage **[58]**. As the analysis did not go too much in detail and in order to move forward with the policy options and to prepare concise plans, an expert group was formed. The Ministry of Social Affairs leads the group, which consists of members from the Ministry of Finance and the EHIF. The expert group is supported on the data side by the Ministry of Social Affairs Analysis and Statistics Department and on the evidence-gathering side by the WHO Country Office. The latter because the Ministry of Social Affairs does not have access to research databases. In addition, other countries' health care experts have been contacted in order to gather information about their practices and systems (Box 7). The collected information will be used to convene a PD with

stakeholders. After which a memorandum of collaboration with WHO health care financing advisers will be drafted in order to get the government's input. WHO advisers will be used as they have experience with other countries and in order to minimize potential errors.

Box 7. Widening the coverage of health insurance

The problem first came into focus when the financial sustainability of the Estonian health care system was evaluated **[176]**. The analyses mentioned above and the ones that follow highlighted that emergency care costs are probably more expensive than allowing at least primary care access to the uninsured **[177]**. The latest work ordered by the Ministry of Social Affairs was the evaluation conducted by PRAXIS to identify who is uninsured and to suggest policy measures on best practices in order to widen health coverage **[58]**. Currently a working group is analysing other countries' experiences, and the advantages and disadvantages of other systems in order to prepare a recommendation on whether and how to implement universal health care in Estonia.

Based on the previous examples, it can be said that evidence is regularly used in policy processes but that no regular EIP processes are in place to support the systematic use of evidence. Attempts at using research evidence usually face different challenges, such as the lack of access to evidence and a lack of skills and guidelines to appraise its quality. In addition, no regular collaboration exists between researchers and policy-makers in the area of EIP. The latter is needed at least in order to access and appraise the evidence but also to get trainings and guidance. In addition, it can be said that ad hoc working groups comprising experts and researchers can be a valuable source to create EBPs, taking into account the limited number of health system researchers and experts in related fields in Estonia. The above-mentioned examples also illustrate that the transparent and systematic use of evidence can play an important role in getting political support in order to move forward with solutions. The lack of or change in political commitment to EIP, non-evidence-based opinions of stakeholders and lobbying (for more information, see section 2.2) can be barriers to evidence-based policy-making, but regular and systematic use of research evidence will strengthen and lead to more evidence-based decisions.

Box 8. Summary of key opportunities and challenges for future EIP efforts considering current EIP processes

Challenges

- » There is no structure or person in place who is responsible for evidence-informed health policy.
- » There are no skills and guidelines on the types of evidence that should be used and how to use them in the EIP process and therefore the quality and practice among policymakers varies.
- » Policy-makers in the Ministry of Social Affairs lack time and skills to find and interpret evidence.
- » The lack of or change in political commitment and lobbying might hinder the use of evidence in policy-making.

Box 8. Contd.

Opportunities

- » Research use is a natural part of the policy-making process and policy-makers want to use it in a more systematic way.
- » Some successful structures and processes are already in place that show how policy is supported by evidence (the Centre for HTA, EHIF processes related to the benefits package, clinical guidelines development). These experiences can be used to guide future EIP efforts.
- » Some successful ad hoc experiences (EBP, green papers) demonstrate how researchers and experts have been involved in EIP processes, which can guide future EIP efforts.

7. CONCLUSIONS, RECOMMENDATIONS AND NEXT STEPS

By looking at existing health policy processes and practice examples, it is clear that the use of research knowledge and evidence can play a role in the policy-making process in Estonia, for example, through ad hoc consultations of (research) experts, the referencing of scientific papers in policy proposals (green papers) or preparing an EBP. There are also existing processes where evidence is regularly used, for example, in the Centre for HTA and clinical guidelines development. These are a starting point on which to build further EIP efforts in order to obtain good population health outcomes by using the available resources in the best possible ways. Estonia's decision to engage in EVIPNet may be interpreted as an expression of willingness to further develop EIP capacity and processes. Yet policy decisions in the country – which often need to be made at short notice – are not always supported by rigorous scientific input, demonstrating the gap between stated intentions and actual practice.

7.1 Current factors that support EIP

The overall climate in Estonia can be considered as favourable towards the use of evidence in policy and practice. The population of Estonia generally supports the use of research in policy-making **[22]**. In addition, the media has started to promote the use of evidence and make it more user-friendly for the general population. One example is the science portal named *Novaator* that is a collaboration between Estonian National Broadcasting and the UT **[35]**. Also, the ERC has supported an initiative that concentrates on evidence-based argumentation named "How do you know?" where politicians have to explain publicly the bases of their claims **[36]**.

The legal framework in Estonia also requires the use of evidence in the policy process (intention to elaborate a draft act, impact assessments) **[29,30]**. Impact assessments and stakeholder engagement are an obligatory part of all legal changes, development plans and decisions made by the minister or other important decisions made by the government **[30]**. There are also guidelines for engagement **[37]** and impact assessment processes **[178]**. In addition, the Government Office organizes centralized trainings in order to build capacity among policy-makers on topics, such as impact assessments, stakeholder engagement and evidence-based policy, and supports the creation of taskforces **[31]**. Moreover, generally there is a will to increase the transparency of policies and to give feedback to stakeholders.

Evidence is increasingly being used in Estonia when health reforms are initiated and when different stakeholders are involved in these policy processes. An umbrella document, the NHP, identifies health priorities in Estonia [52]. The selection of priorities is agreed upon and monitored through engagement with stakeholders by the intersectoral NHP Steering Committee. Regarding EIP, two departments in the Ministry of Social Affairs are responsible to create the bases for evidence-informed health policy-making in the Ministry [67]. Also, based on statutes, the main activities of the NIHD regarding health policy are to provide health-related assessments and implementation analysis and to develop health-promoting programmes and action plans [45].

The main providers of health data in Estonia are the NIHD, the EHIF, the CeHWIS, the HB and the SAM. Data are regularly used in health policy processes and in organizing health care. Generally, data are of high quality and disseminated free of charge in a user-friendly format. The Ministry of Social Affairs and other national organizations – namely the NIHD, the SAM, the HB but also the National Audit Office and the Government Office – conduct and commission studies and assessments in the field of health, in order to use the findings in policy processes or to guide them.

Health research in Estonia is of high quality and the number of scientific outputs of Estonian researchers has steadily increased [152]. Estonia has two publicly accessible research databases [155,156]: one provides information on electrical journals and e-books ordered by the UT, and the other references a variety of published health-related information about Estonia. Researchers are generally well equipped with access to various research infrastructures and international research databases. The country has developed a vision for health research and innovation activities [127] and the Ministry of Social Affairs has named a Health Research and Innovation Council as an advisory body to steer health research [143]. In addition, the Ministry of Social Affairs has employed a research adviser for health policy, to improve communication between researchers and policy-makers.

Some successful evidence-supported systems are already in place such as the Centre for HTA [160], the clinical guideline development process [166] and the process EHIF uses to define the health benefits package [163]. The country has developed organizational infrastructures (permanent secretariats, steering committees and advisory boards) and guidelines in order to facilitate these previously mentioned existing systems. Ad hoc working groups are formed – usually in collaboration with the Ministry of Social Affairs, the NIHD and WHO – to incorporate evidence into green papers and implementation plans. The Ministry of Social Affairs Analysis and Statistics Department usually supports policy processes with regard to situation overviews needed for policy development but also has experience in leading teams in order to develop evidence briefs for policy. Based on these examples, it can be said that the use of evidence is common in everyday policy-making processes and that international organizations often support the EIP process. In particular, WHO is a great support to the Ministry of Social Affairs in fostering EIP and sharing expertise, normative guidance, studies, trainings and networks. The Estonian experience in relation to the EBP and HTA reports illustrates that the systematic use of evidence can play an important role in getting political support in order to move forward with solutions.

7.2 Current factors that challenge EIP

The business–politics linkages are very strong in Estonia [33]. Therefore, it can be said that the political culture in general does not always support EIP (politicians' and stakeholders' interests might be financial and contradictory to the evidence). What also makes stakeholder engagement challenging is the multiplicity; many interest groups are focused on very specific problems [33].

Even though legal mechanisms that foster the use of evidence in policy-making are in place, practical experience among policy-makers revealed that there are no specific guidelines on how and where to gather evidence. In addition, the quality of the evidence used varies among policy-makers as they lack time, skills or access. The timeframe of policy-making itself is short and some decisions have to be made fast; therefore, EIP is not always possible because of the

lack of time among policy-makers. The window of opportunity passes quickly and there is little time for policy-makers to gather evidence and no evidence synthesis available for use. Moreover, the relatively high voluntary turnover of employees in ministries also hinders the sustainability and capacity of EIP and its culture [23].

Evidence is often used in health policy processes and in health reforms but not in a systematic way and there are no guidelines developed. There is an umbrella health policy document, the NHP [52], used to plan activities and define measurable targets, but not used consistently to hold stakeholders accountable [17]. Every public organization has its own development plan or strategy and the consistency between them and the NHP needs improvement in order to achieve the main strategic health goals in Estonia. Professional health (including patient) organizations regularly take part in policy processes. However, there is room for improvement in terms of patient empowerment, capacities and influence on health policies [17]. There is also a need to ensure stable resources for already existing activities in relation to quality improvements (e.g. HTAs, clinical guidelines).

Activities that monitor some aspects of the health system and its performance are in place **[68]**, but they are fragmented and not systematically conducted (e.g. NHP, EHIF quality indicators). National health system performance assessments that guide policy decisions need to be conducted regularly; the last one was conducted in 2009 with WHO support **[64]**.

The Estonian HIS lacks a clear direction and management; therefore, a stronger leadership role is needed in order to minimize the current fragmentation [107]. It currently causes duplication of activities while leaving gaps (indicator development, making predictions, data collection and analyses), hampering the exchange of data and knowledge sharing, and creating lost opportunities for research and policy support. Further improvements are needed in order to facilitate EIP to address general problems, such as modernizing certain registries (that are still paper based e.g. the Medical Pregnancy Information System, Cancer Register, Tuberculosis Register), the lack of data quality (e.g. e-HIS [48,83], ICD-10-related problems) and capture (e.g. e-HIS [83,84]), lack of user-friendly ways (strict data protection regulations) and tools to help to link data from different data sources and limited health data that include socioeconomic status. More timely (e.g. cancer and health care expenditures data), analytical (e.g. analysis of causes and relationships, evaluations/assessments, forecasts, etc.) and user-friendly reports (e.g. easy to read one pager) that include policy recommendations are needed to disseminate health information. Further improvement is also needed in the availability of user-friendly data (e.g. HB, SAM).

Despite developing the Research, Development and Innovation Strategy for the Estonian Health System 2015–2020 [127] and creating the Health Research and Innovation Council [143], no specific activities have been planned due to the lack of financial resources. Thus, the strategic management of health research is lacking. Most health research is not aligned with health system priorities and needs [131], which can partially be explained by the lack of financial levers to make health research useful and used in the EIP process. As a result, few studies find their way to policy-makers and researchers are not motivated to work on socially important issues. Other factors include the lack of access to research publications, the lack of easy-to-understand research results for policy-makers, generally poor dissemination of research results to policy-makers and researchers. Moreover, very few research studies focus on health systems, i.e., implementation research and health policy and few researchers are interested in this topic.

It can be said that no organization or person responsible for evidence-informed health policy is in place. Neither are there regular mechanisms that would support the systematic use of research evidence in health policy. Attempts to use research evidence among policy-makers usually face different challenges, such as a lack of access, skills and guidelines appraising the quality of evidence, etc. There are no user-friendly, easy-to-understand, unbiased evidence synthesis reports that could be used by policy-makers in order to support EIP. There is also no regular collaboration between researchers and policy-makers in the area of EIP. This hinders the use of research results and prevents collaboration on projects and activities in the area of EIP.

7.3 Strengthening and supporting EIP in a systematic way

Policy decisions are always influenced by factors other than evidence. These include institutional constraints, interests, ideas (including values) and external factors like recessions. Nonetheless, strengthening the use of research evidence, and the ability of policy-makers to make appropriate judgements about its relevance and quality, are critical challenges that hold the promise of helping to achieve significant health gains and better use of resources. EIP will also enable policy-makers to manage better the misuse of research evidence by lobbyists and to acknowledge that policies may be informed by imperfect information. Systematic and transparent use of research will also help to protect against errors and biases, and reduces the risk of being misled by change or by biased selection and appraisal of evidence [10].

Table 1 summarizes the findings of the SA and possible measures that could help to strengthen EIP in Estonia.

Current challenges in relation to EIP	Measures for improvement
1. General country context	
1.1 Voluntary turnover of employees in the ministries might represent a challenge to the sustainability and capacity of EIP and its culture.	Implement centralized trainings about the importance of EIP and tools that can be used (EBP, PD, RRS, etc.) and measures to decrease the voluntary turnover of employees.
 1.2 A wide range of different interest groups with varying degrees of capabilities and empowerment in relation to EIP makes their engagement somewhat challenging. In the field of health, civil society and patient organizations are less organized and therefore not very active in policy-making processes. 	Continue centralized support in empowering civil society and improving its capabilities to take part in policy processes. Strengthen patient and other stakeholder engagement in order to get a better balance between business interests and that of the general public in PDs.

Table 1. Summary of current challenges of EIP in Estonia and measures for improvement

Current challenges in relation to EIP	Measures for improvement
1.3 Strong business–politics linkages might hinder the use of evidence in policy-making.	Continue to move towards evidence use in policy-making and to highlight its importance to support EIP.
	Use EIP tools systematically in policy-making processes (EBP, PD, RRS, etc.) to help to balance the strong business–politics linkages.
	Support public initiatives that demand or assist KT to guide policy to be more evidence-informed.
	Strengthen collaboration between different government structures in relation to EIP (e.g. the Ministry of Social Affairs, Legal and Research Department of Parliament, Strategy Unit of the Government Office, the National Audit Office).
2. The health system	
2.1 Funding is uncertain for quality improvement activities (HTAs, clinical guidelines, pathways, patient safety, etc.).	Ensure continued funding for quality improvement activities.
2.2 Inconsistencies exist between health system-related goals in the NHP and different development plans.	Align the goals in different health-related national development plans to those in the NHP in order to achieve them.
2.3 NHP is not always the strategic document that plans activities, defines measurable targets and holds stakeholders accountable.	Ensure that the new NHP includes ways to hold stakeholders accountable. This requires making the new NHP the strategic health document that guides the work of all the different organizations and stakeholders.
2.4 Performance evaluation is fragmented and no health system performance framework exists to guide policy decisions.	Regularly perform a health system performance analysis (last conducted in 2009) and agree on the process, roles, timeframe, frequency, etc.

Current challenges in relation to EIP	Measures for improvement
3. The national HIS	
3.1 There is no central comprehensive HIS structure (management or decision-making body) in place to ensure regular communication among stakeholders. This causes fragmentation of the system, duplication of activities and lost opportunities for research and policy support, and hampers the exchange of data and knowledge sharing.	Foster regular communication between different HIS stakeholders to achieve a less fragmented system, to lessen duplication and to facilitate better opportunities for research and policy support.
3.2 Strict data protection regulation makes linking and using different data sources complicated and time-consuming.	Provide continuous support for the work on a state-level tool for secure data storage, integration, access and analysis in order to enhance the country's ability to analyse large and detailed sets of health and lifecycle data.
3.3 There is no convenient system to link different data sources and create more opportunities to use data in support of EIP in the form of more analytical reports, such as analysis of causes and relationships, etc.	
3.4 Registries lack data that include socioeconomic status, which is needed in order to support EIP.	
3.5 The quality of health data needs improvement and shows that health care professionals need regular trainings on the use of ICD.	Organize trainings on ICD in order to improve the quality of data used in analyses that support EIP.
3.6 e-HIS data are not widely in use, due to low data quality and data capture problems.	Provide continuous support to improve e-HIS data quality and capture in order to make data available for health system analysis needed to identify problems, causes, etc. in the system.
3.7 The HB and the SAM data are not widely published in a user-friendly format.	Have the HB and the SAM continue to work towards publishing their data in the NIHD database.

Current challenges in relation to EIP	Measures for improvement
3.8 Health data are published with a long delay, in particular the Cancer Register and health care expenditure data.	The move towards electronic data in the future will potentially help to publish data faster.
3.9 Data analysis or survey reports are more descriptive than analytical and therefore do not support EIP.	In policy processes, continue to advocate for reports and analysis that are more analytical and practical, for example, analysis of causes and relationships, evaluations/assessments, forecasts and policy recommendations.
3.10 Reports are too long and therefore not user-friendly.	Have report writers take into account the different types of users and include a one pager with an easy-to-understand overview as part of the report.
3.11 Development of quality and performance monitoring indicators is fragmented between different institutions and some activities overlap.	Have institutions agree on a list of health system monitoring indicators with objectives to advise policy-makers about the current status, changes and problems in the health system, and use the data in support of EIP.
4. The national health research system	
4.1 Generally, there is a lack of finances for R&D activities.	Consider increasing public funding for R&D activities.
4.2 The high use of foreign money for R&D may seriously threaten future work creating insecurity among researchers and unsustainable research.	
4.3 Health- and medicine-related research projects and governmental needs are not aligned.	Develop and implement a national clinical and research programme that integrates medical research into clinical practice to better guide researchers on topics that support EIP.
4.4 There is no specific national health R&D implementation plan; therefore, health researchers have difficulty understanding the needs of the Government and the Ministry of Social Affairs, which prevents KT.	Create additional funds and levers to make health research more useful and used in the EIP process.

Current challenges in relation to EIP	Measures for improvement
4.5 Very few studies focus on health systems, i.e., implementation research and health policy (dynamic health system evaluation), and few researchers are interested in this topic.	Create financial incentives to encourage health systems research. Conduct additional trainings for researches or train a new generation of researchers, analysts, etc. to help to fill this gap.
4.6 The Health Research and Innovation Council`s greatest challenges are its timely involvement in the Ministry of Social Affairs' R&D planning process and the limited capability and (e.g., time) resources of its members to contribute actively.	Scale up the work of the Health Research and Innovation Council in order to give timely and relevant advice to the Ministry of Social Affairs.
4.7 Few research studies find their way to policy-makers and to the policy-making process due to the lack of knowledge about studies that have been conducted and the lack of access to research databases.	Improve policy-maker access to research databases. Improve information sharing about research and its results that are beneficial to EIP. Information days incorporating presentations on policy-relevant research projects from health researchers have been planned since 2019 in order to improve the situation.
4.8 Research results are presented in a highly complex way and there is a lack of easy-to-understand research results.	Use specialized translational scientists to simplify research results.
4.9 Researchers do not usually see the merit in KT and KB because they do not have a clear understanding of the use of their results.	Raise awareness on EIP and its importance among researchers. Consider using networks or events to help researchers and policy-makers understand each other's work and to help to build partnerships. Information days incorporating presentations on policy-relevant research projects from health researchers have been planned since 2019 in order to improve the situation.
4.10 The KT process greatly depends on researchers and their contacts outside their own institution. There are no formal ways for policy- makers to communicate with researchers or experts in their field of work, which is currently based on personal relationships.	

Current challenges in relation to EIP	Measures for improvement
5. EIP process	
5.1 There is no structure or person who is responsible for evidence- informed health policy.	Identify a person or structure responsible for evidence-informed health policy in order to ensure systematic use of evidence in health policy processes, determine its weaknesses and develop it further (organize specific trainings, etc.).
5.2 There are no guidelines on the types of evidence that should be used and how to use them in the EIP process; therefore, the quality and practice among policy-makers varies.	Organize centralized trainings on EIP and its tools (EBP, PD) for policy-makers. Organize general trainings on the available research databases, where to find research results and how to assess research results.
5.3 Policy-makers in the Ministry of Social Affairs lack time and skills to find and interpret evidence.	Implement regular systematic support from researchers in order to search, assess and use evidence in the short- and long-term timeframes using EIP tools such as RRS, EBP and PD. This will be needed once the KTP is implemented. Strengthen EIP by creating a RRS and using EBP and PD to help to use evidence in policy processes and reach desired outcomes.
5.4 Lack of or change in political commitment might hinder the use of evidence in policy-making.	

Based on the findings that hinder EIP in Estonia, there is a clear need to establish a regular systematic way to support policy-making processes with research evidence. In the international arena, systematic EIP support in the form of a network, unit or organization is called KTP. It is a national-level entity designed to create and nurture links among researchers, policy-makers and other research users [4]. These links draw the research and policy communities closer together to ultimately create cycles of policy-informed evidence and EIP [9]. KTP facilitates the utilization of the best available local and international evidence to improve policy and its implementation and it refines national health research agendas [9].

Creating a KTP in Estonia will help to solve previously identified problems related to the lack of:

- » general knowledge about the importance of EIP and tools that can be used;
- » knowledge of and access to research results relevant for health policy;
- » user-friendly research synthesis that can be used in EIP processes;
- » formal ways that policy-makers and researchers can use to communicate with each other;
- » a structure or person who is responsible for evidence-informed health policy; and
- » time, skills and guidelines (where and how to look for evidence, how to appraise it) and practical tools (EBP, PD, RRS) that can be used in EIP processes.

The following elements are essential for EIP in Estonia:

- » a change in political culture and attitudes towards EIP;
- » longer-term and more systematic use of evidence in policy-making processes;
- » an increase in resources directed to policy-oriented research, evaluations and analysis;
- » improved knowledge about health among policy-makers and the general population with more analytical, practical and user-friendly reports; and
- » research projects aligned with health policy needs.

However, systemic problems, cultural issues or long-term processes beyond the control of a KTP need to be addressed, which may need more time to take effect. However, a well-functioning KTP can facilitate changes in these areas too.

7.4 Next steps

7.4.1 ACTIVITIES, BASIC FEATURES AND STRUCTURE OF A KTP

The KTP in Estonia would need to support already existing practices in health policy-making with good quality evidence and implementation considerations. This means that the KTP would be actively used in the preparatory phase of policy-making when policy problems and options are formulated, in the PD phase involving stakeholders and in the communication phase with policy-makers. The KTP would support the work of the Ministry of Social Affairs in order to guide topics. It would focus on KT that will help to make evidence available in the policy process, but it would not reduce the freedom of choice among decision-makers, as evidence is only one element in the decision-making process. The KTP would focus on policy problems assigned by policy-makers. Ideally, these topics would have flexibility in terms of the policy options available that could be used in order to solve the problems. The main tasks of a KTP are to synthesize and appraise already existing evidence and to support PD among stakeholders.

The **activities** that the KTP should perform in order to support EIP are:

- » building capacity on topics related to EIP and tools that can be used among policymakers, researchers and research users;
- » organizing networks of policy-makers, researchers and other research users;
- » supporting policy-makers in order to identify the topics and gaps where KTP help is needed;
- » synthesizing and packaging evidence in response to stated policy needs conducting high-quality EBPs relevant for policy-makers where there is six or more months' time to create them, and using RRS for ad hoc tasks when the timeframe to prepare the evidence is short (24 hours up to a couple of weeks or months).
- » facilitating PD and collaboration between policy-makers, researchers and other research users;
- » contributing to efforts to shape the research agenda (priority setting or gap analysis); and
- » taking part in national and international cooperation on EIP (EVIPNet).

KTPs are ideally led by trustworthy, highly connected and credible experts, intermediaries who excel in various different fields, including evidence gathering, critical appraisal, facilitation, communication and networking [9]. They almost certainly require experience – and command respect – in the worlds of both research and policy [9]. Based on other countries' experiences

and in order to address the above mentioned challenges in EIP in Estonia and to fulfil the role of a KTP, the **basic features** needed are:

- » policy relevance as policy-makers must be able to express their needs and these needs need to be handled as a priority;
- » independence in order to ensure its separation from politics, lobbyists, etc. and its reliability;
- » feasibility as financial and human resources are needed in order to obtain feasibility in the long run;
- authority in order to be able to influence policy decisions and to engage different stakeholders;
- » professionalism as the methods and tools used need to be of high quality and acceptable nationally and internationally; and
- » transparency as different stakeholders of EIP processes need to be involved and the methods used need to be transparent.

Based on other countries' experiences, KTPs can have different organizational shapes and locations. It may function as a network that forms around a particular issue or an event or it might be a permanent unit or organization [4]. It can also be located in different places: in the government (The Ministry of Social Affairs), in a university, in a research institution, or work as a member of civil society [4]. Promising examples of organizational models in the international arena are the Norwegian Knowledge Centre for the Health Services [179], the King's Fund [180], the McMaster Health Forum [181], the Knowledge to Policy Center in the American University of Beirut [182], and the European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies [183]. Among EVIPNet countries, characteristics of KTPs differ widely. There are examples where a KTP has operated successfully located at the government/municipality level (Brazil and Peru), or at a university (Uganda). Pros and cons for a KTP differ based on its organizational shape and location.

Based on the Estonian experience in relation to the Centre for HTA, clinical guidelines development and the EHIF benefit package evaluation process, certain kinds of structures are needed to ensure that the KTP will be a success; an ICT platform is also needed to share in a user-friendly way the products created by the KTP. In addition, in order to provide its primary mission, channelling evidence and tacit knowledge transparently to the policy process, the KTP needs to have at least the following **structures** in place:

- » an advisory board that gives general directions to the KTP (can be directed from outside the KTP, has to be closely related to policy-makers);
- » a permanent secretariat that deals with evidence gathering, assessment and the methodological quality and sustainability of the evidence synthesis (manages and develops EIP tools, e.g., EBP, PD, RRS);
- » permanent communication person/unit that deals with stakeholder engagement, evidence dissemination and EIP-related trainings;
- a network of researchers and experts who will contribute expert knowledge and input to the different activities conducted by the KTP (e.g. contract-based researchers and experts); and
- » a public and respected figure who will present and promote KTP and its activities.

There are different options on where to place the KTP in Estonia based on the skills and knowledge that already exist among different organizations and units. In order to initiate discussions, two different options are described below.

The **first option** is to have the Ministry of Social Affairs take the lead in the process by developing with WHO support the skills needed to function as a permanent secretariat and communication unit and make case-by-case contracts with experts and researchers depending on the policy needs. In order to function as a permanent secretariat, the Ministry of Social Affairs would need to get access to research databases or buy services related to research gathering and appraisal. The latter could probably come from the already well-functioning clinical guideline secretariat or from the Centre for HTA at UT. The NHP Steering Committee, the Health Research and Innovation Council or the HTA advisory board could be used to advise on the topics and type of KTP support needed. At least three employees of the Ministry of Social Affairs would need to be trained on KTP tools, probably with WHO support. In this scenario, the Ministry of Social Affairs would also take the role of central coordinator of EIP by distributing the results and organizing EIP-related trainings in collaboration with WHO. As a public figure, the health research adviser for health policy in the Ministry of Social Affairs could advocate for the KTP and its activities and facilitate the PD with stakeholders.

The **pros** of the first options are that it:

- » requires no separate structure for EIP to be created;
- » can take effect rather soon as it does not need a lot of extra funding;
- » stokes demand for evidence among policy-makers;
- » strengthens the capacity of policy-makers to use evidence; and
- » helps to adapt and apply research evidence because of its proximity to the policymaking process.

The **cons** of the first option are that:

- » funding is unstable (will depend on the Ministry of Social Affairs' funds);
- » the Ministry of Social Affairs as a central public figure for EIP might not be accepted as neutral;
- » the work process may be slow because employees of the Ministry of Social Affairs are busy doing their other work;
- » it is subject to political pressure: and
- » the quality of work might suffer if KTP activities are not routinely performed (e.g. based on demand).

The **second option** is to form the KTP within already existing and well-working structures (permanent secretariat and communication unit with public figures) and to provide stable funding for it. It could be either part of the Centre for HTA or a unit within the NIHD. The NHP Steering Committee, the Health Research and Innovation Council or the HTA advisory board could be used to provide advice on topics that need KTP support. Trainings for employees of the UT or the NIHD would be needed to fulfil this role. The Ministry of Social Affairs could organize trainings with WHO support. In this scenario, the KTP would also take the role as a general EIP promoter and with WHO support, organize general trainings for policy-makers and other research users in relation to EIP.

The **pros** of the second options are that it:

- » is feasible and has fixed funding;
- » is independent of political pressure;
- » would likely be neutral and respected from the point of view of stakeholders; and
- » is expected to produce high-quality work as already existing expertise would be used.

The **cons** of the second options are that it:

- » needs constant extra funding and therefore might take a longer time to create;
- » probably requires additional employees to be hired by the NIHD or the UT in order to carry out the tasks; and
- » might hamper the influence of the implementing entities (NIHD, UT) on policy processes due to their proximity to the policy-making process.

REFERENCES

- 1. Resolution WHA58.34. Ministerial Summit on Health Research. In: Fifty-eighth World Health Assembly, Geneva, 16–25 May 2005. Resolutions and decisions. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2005:126 (<u>http://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf_files/WHA58-REC1/english/</u> <u>Resolutions.pdf</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- The Bamako Call to Action on Research for Health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2008 (Global Ministerial Forum on Research for Health, Bamako, Mali, 17–19 November 2008; <u>https://www.who.int/rpc/news/BAMAKOCALLTOACTIONFinalNov24.pdf</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 3. Beijing Statement from the Second Global Symposium on Health Systems Research; 2012 (<u>http://healthsystemsresearch.org/hsr2012/images/stories/downloads/beijing%20</u>statement.pdf, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 4. Kasonde JM, Campbell S. Creating a Knowledge Translation Platform: nine lessons from the Zambia Forum for Health Research. Health Res Policy Syst. 2012;10:31 (<u>http://www.health-policy-systems.com/content/10/1/31</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- Joining the Evidence-informed Policy Network (EVIPNet) Europe. Information for the WHO heads of country offices in eastern/central Europe and central Asia. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2015 (<u>http://www.euro.who.int/______data/assets/pdf_______file/0012/307200/Joining-EVIPNet-Europe-HCO.pdf</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 6. Conceptual background and case studies. Introduction to EVIPNet Europe. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2017 (<u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/data-and-evidence/evidence-informed-policy-making/publications/2017/conceptual-background-and-case-studies-introduction-to-evipnet-europe-2017</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 7. Evidence brief for policy. Reducing the consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages and their negative health impact in Estonia. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2017 (<u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/countries/estonia/publications/publications-in-estonian/evidence-brief-for-policy-reducing-the-consumption-of-sugar-sweetened-beverages-and-their-negative-health-impact-in-estonia-2017</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 8. Case studies and lessons learnt: Evidence-informed Policy Network (EVIPNet) Europe: knowledge translation success stories. Public Health Panorama 2018;4(2):161–9 (<u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/publications/public-health-panorama/journal-issues/volume-4,-issue-2,-june-2018/case-studies-and-lessons-learnt3</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 9. EVIPNet Europe Strategic Plan 2013–2017. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2015 (<u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/data-and-evidence/evidence-informed-policy-making/publications/2015/evipnet-europe-strategic-plan-20132017-2015</u>).
- 10. Oxman AD, Lavis JN, Lewin S, Fretheim A. SUPPORT Tools for evidence-informed health Policymaking (STP) 1: What is evidence-informed policymaking? Health Res Policy Syst. 2009;7(Suppl 1):S1.

- 11. World report on knowledge for better health: strengthening health systems. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2004 (<u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43058</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 12. Policy dialogue preparation and facilitation checklist. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2016 (<u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/data-and-evidence/evidence-informed-policy-making/evidence-informed-policy-network-evipnet/evipnet-europe-policy-dialogue-preparation-and-facilitation-checklist-2016</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 13. Lomas J, Culyer T, McCutcheon C, McAuley L, Law S. Conceptualizing and combining evidence for health system guidance. Ottawa: Canadian Health Services Research Foundation; 2005 (<u>https://www.cfhi-fcass.ca/migrated/pdf/insightAction/evidence_e.pdf</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 14. Moat KA, Lavis JN, Clancy SJ, El-Jardali F, Pantoja T, the Knowledge Translation Platform Evaluation study team. Evidence briefs and deliberative dialogues: perceptions and intentions to act on what was learnt. Bull World Health Organ. 2014;92(1):20–8 (<u>https://www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/92/1/12-116806/en/</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 15. Ganann R, Ciliska D, Thomas H. Expediting systematic reviews: methods and implications of rapid reviews. Implement Sci. 2010;5:56.
- 16. EVIPNet Europe situation analysis manual. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2017 (<u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/data-and-evidence/evidence-informed-policy-making/publications/2017/evipnet-europe-situation-analysis-manual-2017</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 17. Habicht T, Reinap M, Kasekamp K, Sikkut R, Aaben L, van Ginneken E. Estonia: Health system review. Health Systems in Transition. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (acting as the host organization for, and secretariat of, the European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies); 2018 (<u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/about-us/partners/observatory/publications/health-system-reviews-hits/full-list-of-country-hits/estonia-hit-2018</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 18. Government of the Republic Act. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2010 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/en/eli/521012014008/consolide</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 19. Board and departments. In: Parliament of Estonia [website]. Tallinn: Parliament of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.riigikogu.ee/en/parliament-of-estonia/chancellery-riigikogu/board-and-departments/</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 20. Government Office. In: Government Office of Estonia [website]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.riigikantselei.ee/en/government-office</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- National Audit Office of Estonia [website]. Tallinn: National Audit Office of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.riigikontroll.ee/Avaleht/tabid/36/language/en-US/Default.aspx</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 22. Government Office of Estonia, personal communication (written consultation no. 1), 4 February 2019.
- Avaliku teenistuse 2015. Aasta aruanne [Civil service 2015. Annual report]. Tallinn: Ministry of Finance of Estonia; 2016 (<u>https://www.digar.ee/viewer/et/nlib-digar</u>:305985, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 24. Real GDP per capita. In: Eurostat **[online database]**. Luxembourg: European Commission; 2019 (<u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/tgm/table</u>. <u>do?tab=table&init=1&language=en&pcode=sdg_08_10&logplugin=1</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).

- 25. Employment statistics. In: Eurostat [online database]. Luxembourg: European Commission; 2019 (https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/Employment_statistics, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 26. Life-expectancy at birth by sex. In: Eurostat [online database]. Luxembourg: European Commission; 2019 (<u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/tgm/table.</u> <u>do?tab=table&init=1&language=en&pcode=sdg_03_10&plugin=1</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 27. Worldwide Governance Indicators [online database]. Washington (DC): World Bank; 2019 (<u>http://info.worldbank.org/governance/wgi/#reports</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 28. Glossary of summaries. In: EUR-Lex Access to European Union law [website]. Brussels: European Union; 2019 (<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/summary/glossary/green_paper.html</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 29. Guidelines for development of legislative policy until 2018. Tallinn: Ministry of Justice; 2010 (<u>https://www.just.ee/sites/www.just.ee/files/guidelines for development of legislative policy until 2018.pdf</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- Vabariigi Valitsuse reglement Vastu võetud 13.01.2011 nr 10 [Government of the Republic Regulation Adopted on 13 January 2011 no 10]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2010 (https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/119012011004, accessed 27 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 31. Operational Programme for Cohesion Policy Funds 2014–2020. Tallinn: Ministry of Finance of Estonia; 2014 (<u>https://www.struktuurifondid.ee/sites/default/files/2014-2020_l.pdf</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 32. Republic of Estonia, Public Administration Country Profile, 2004. New York: United Nations; 2004 (<u>http://unpan1.un.org/intradoc/groups/public/documents/un/unpan023213.pdf</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- Saarts T. Political culture, participation and civil society in the Baltic States Part II [presentation]. Tallinn: University of Tallinn; 2009 (<u>https://www.tlu.ee/opmat/ri/rit6006/</u> <u>civilsociety/3_2slaid.pdf</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 34. Estonia. Freedom of the Press 2015. In: Freedom House [website]. Washington (DC): Freedom House; 2018 (<u>https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-press/2015/estonia</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 35. Novaator [Innovator] [website]. Tallinn: Estonian Public Broadcasting; 2019 (<u>https://novaator.err.ee/</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 36. Algatus "Kust sa tead?" soovitab poliitikutelt küsida, millel nende väited tuginevad [The "How Do You Know?" Initiative suggests that politicians ask where their claims are based]. Tallinn: Estonian Research Council; 9 August 2018 (<u>https://www.etag.ee/algatus-kust-sa-tead-soovitab-poliitikutelt-kusida-millel-nende-vaited-tuginevad/</u>, accessed 27 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 37. Good Practice of Engagement. In: Government Office of Estonia [website]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2017 (<u>https://www.riigikantselei.ee/en/good-practice-engagement</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- About civil society in Estonia and the non-profit organizations. Tallinn: Network of Estonian Nonprofit Organizations; 2005 (<u>https://heakodanik.ee/sites/default/files/files/</u> <u>EMSLeng2005WEB.pdf</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 39. Civil Society. In: Ministry of the Interior [website]. Tallinn: Ministry of the Interior; 2017 (<u>https://www.siseministeerium.ee/en/regional-affairs/civil-society</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).

- 40. National Foundation of Civil Society [website]. Tallinn: National Foundation of Civil Society; 2019 (<u>https://www.kysk.ee/about-us</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 41. Health Services Organisation Act. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/en/eli/ee/514112018001/consolide/current</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 42. Analüüsi ja statistika osakonna põhimäärus **[Statutes of the Ministry of Social Affairs Analysis and Statistics Department]**. Tallinn: Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia; 2015 (<u>https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/Ministeerium_kontaktid/</u><u>Ministeeriumi_tutvustus_ja_struktuur/UUSpohimaarused/160_anso.pdf</u>, accessed 27 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 43. Tervisesüsteemi arendamise osakonna põhimäärus [Statutes of the Ministry of Social Affairs Health Development Department]. Tallinn: Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia; 2015 (https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/Ministeerium kontaktid/ Ministeeriumi tutvustus ja struktuur/UUSpohimaarused/160 tsao.pdf, accessed 27 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 44. State Agency of Medicines [website]. Tartu: State Agency of Medicines; 2019 (<u>https://ravimiamet.ee/en/sam</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 45. National Institute for Health Development [website]. Tallinn: National Institute for Health Development; 2019 (<u>https://www.tai.ee/en/about-us</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 46. Centre of Health and Welfare Information Systems [website]. Tallinn: Centre of Health and Welfare Information Systems; 2019 (<u>https://www.tehik.ee/meist/</u>, accessed 27 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 47. Health Board [website]. Tallinn: Health Board; 2019 (<u>https://www.terviseamet.ee/en/about-Health-Board</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 48. Terviseameti põhimäärus [Statutes of the Health Board]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2018 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/120112018002</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- Estonian Health Insurance Fund Act. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2018 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/en/eli/ee/Riigikogu/act/511072018004/consolide</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 50. Estonian Health Insurance Fund [website]. Tallinn: Estonian Health Insurance Fund; 2019 (<u>https://www.haigekassa.ee/en</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 51. Health Insurance Act. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.</u> <u>ee/en/eli/522032019008/consolide</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 52. The National Health Plan 2009–2020. Tallinn: Ministry of Social Affairs; 2012 (<u>https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/eesmargid_ja_tegevused/Tervis/Aruanded/</u> <u>rta_2009-2020_2012_eng.pdf</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 53. Terviseameti Arengukava **[The Health Board development plan]** 2015–2020. Tallinn: Health Board; 2015 (<u>https://www.terviseamet.ee/sites/default/files/content-editor/vanaveeb/Kasulikku/TA arengukava 2015-2020.pdf</u>, accessed 27 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 54. Ravimiameti arengustrateegia [The State Agency of Medicines development strategy] 2019–2022. Tartu: State Agency of Medicines; 2018 (<u>https://www.ravimiamet.ee/sites/default/files/documents/ravimiameti_arengustrateegia_2019_2022.pdf</u>, accessed 27 June 2019 in Estonian).

- 55. Eesti Haigekassa arengukava [The Estonian Health Insurance Fund development plan 2019–2022]. Tallinn: Estonian Health Insurance Fund; 2018 (<u>https://www.haigekassa.ee/</u> <u>sites/default/files/Haigekassast/EHK</u> arengukava 2019-2022.pdf, accessed 27 June 2019 in Estonian).
- Tervise Arengu Instituudi Arengukava [The National Institute for Health Development development plan] 2016–2020. Tallinn: National Institute for Health Development; 2015 (<u>https://www.tai.ee/images/TAI_arengukava_2016-2020.pdf</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 57. Habicht T, Reinap M, Kasekamp K, Habich J, van Ginneken E, Webb E. The 2017 reform to improve financial sustainability of national health insurance in Estonia: analysis and first lessons on broadening the revenue base. Health Policy, 2019 (online) (<u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/</u> <u>S0168851019301381?via%3Dihub&fbclid=IwAR2g6F3Ipm2oW6MynZ3JhaATQ6KxV9</u> <u>Qj3b4l5VsvL3uDUIMk7URXu3kCvs</u>, accessed 27 June 2019).
- 58. Koppel K, Priits M, Masso M, Aaben L, Vainre M, Paat-Ahi G et al. Ravikindlustus valitutele või ravikaitse kõigile kuidas täita lüngad Eesti ravikindlustuses? [Health insurance coverage for all or for selected ones how to fill the gaps in Estonian health insurance? Tallinn: PRAXIS; 2018 (<u>https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/Tervishoid/ravikindlustuskaitse_uuring_praxis.pdf</u>, accessed 27 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 59. Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia, personal communication (face-to-face interview no. 2), 23 January 2019.
- 60. Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia, personal communication (face-to-face consultation no. 2), 6 March 2019.
- 61. Ravijuhend [Clinical guidelines] [website]. Tallinn: Ravijuhend; 2019 (www.ravijuhend.ee, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 62. World Health Organization. Estonian Handbook for Guidelines Development. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2011 (<u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/44734/9789241502429 eng.pdf;jsessionid=F2DAD98385F7EBC31AF5E7E4AA7D3D62?sequence=1</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 63. Garner P, Hill S, Schünemann H. Developing and implementing guidelines for health policy and clinical practice in Estonia: interim appraisal of progress. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2015 (<u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/countries/estonia/publications/developing-and-implementing-guidelines-for-health-policy-and-clinical-practice-in-estonia-interim-appraisal-of-progress-2015</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 64. Estonian health system performance assessment 2009 snapshot. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2010 (<u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/countries/estonia/publications/estonia-health-system-performance-assessment.-2009-snapshot</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 65. Tervise Arengu Instituudi põhimäärus [Statutes of the National Institute for Health Development]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/112032019066</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 66. Ravimiameti põhimäärus **[Statutes of the State Agency of Medicines]**. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2016 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/125052016007</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).

- 67. Sotsiaalministeeriumi põhimäärus [Statutes of the Ministry of Social Affairs]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2018 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/115122018002</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- Detailsed kliinilised indikaatorid [Detailed clinical indicators]. In: Estonian Health Insurance Fund [website].Tallinn: Estonian Health Insurance Fund; 2019 (<u>https://www.haigekassa.</u> <u>ee/partnerile/tervishoiuteenuste-kvaliteet/kliinilised-indikaatorid/detailsed-kliinilisedindikaatorid</u>, accessed 19 July 2019 in Estonian).
- 69. Statistics Estonia [website]. Tallinn: Statistics Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.stat.ee/</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 70. University of Tartu [website]. Tartu: University of Tartu; 2019 (<u>https://www.ut.ee/en</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 71. Registries. In: National Institute for Health Development [website]. Tallinn: National Institute for Health Development; 2015 (<u>https://tai.ee/en/r-and-d/registers</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 72. The Department of Health Statistics. In: National Institute for Health Development [website]. Tallinn: National Institute for Health Development; 2015 (<u>https://tai.ee/en/r-and-d/health-statistics</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 73. Tervishoiustatistika ja tervishoiualase majandustegevuse aruannete koostamise nõuded, andmete koosseis ning esitamise kord [Requirements for the compilation of health statistics and reports on economic activities in the health sector, composition of data and procedure for submission]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2018 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/121122018047</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- Estonian Health Care Expenditure in 2015. Tallinn: National Institute for Health Development;
 2017 (<u>https://www.tai.ee/et/terviseandmed/uuringud/download/412</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 75. Tervishoiutöötajate riikliku registri põhimäärus [Statutes of the Estonian Health Care Professionals]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/112032019064</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 76. Tervishoiuteenuse osutamise tegevuslubade riikliku registri põhimäärus [Statutes of the of Estonian Health Care Licenses Register]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/112032019026</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 77. Nakkushaiguste registri põhimäärus **[Statutes of the National Communicable Diseases Register]**. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/113032019242</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 78. Ravimiregistri põhimäärus [Statutes of the Register of Medicinal Products]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/106022019005</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 79. Ravimiameti tegevuslubade registri põhimäärus [Statutes of the Register of Activity Licences]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/106022019002</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- Tervise infosüsteemi põhimäärus [Statutes of the e-Health Information System]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/112032019034</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).

- Sisene Patsiendiportaali [The National Patient Portal]. In: Centre of Health and Welfare Information Systems [website]. Tallinn: Centre of Health and Welfare Information Systems; 2019 (<u>https://www.tehik.ee/tervis/patsiendile/patsiendiportaali-voimalused/</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 82. Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia, personal communication (face-to-face consultation no.
 6), 5 March 2019.
- 83. E-tervise infosüsteem [E-health information system analyses]. In: National Institute for Health Development [website]. Tallinn: National Institute for Health Development; 2019 (<u>https://tai.ee/et/tegevused/tervisestatistika/tervise-infosusteemi-statistikamoodul</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 84. Kirpu V, Eigo N. Handling missing data and errors in Estonian eHealth information system. Tallinn: National Institute for Health Development; 2018 (<u>https://tai.ee/images/kirpu_eigo_university_of_tartu_2018_handling_missing_data_and_errors_in_estonian_ehealth_information_system.pdf</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 85. Haigekassa andmekogu pidamise põhimäärus [Statutes of the Estonian Health Insurance Fund Database]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/112032019019</u>, (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/112032019019</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 86. Retseptikeskuse asutamine ja retseptikeskuse pidamise põhimäärus [Statutes of the Medical Prescription Centre]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/112032019054</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 87. Personal Data Protection Act. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/en/eli/ee/Riigikogu/act/503012019006/consolide</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 88. Estonian Data Protection Inspectorate [website]. Tallinn: Estonian Data Protection Inspectorate; 2019 (<u>https://www.aki.ee/en</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data, and repealing Directive 95/46/EC (General Data Protection Regulation). O. J. E. U. 2016, L199:1–88 (<u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ TXT/?uri=celex%3A32016R0679</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 90. Estonian Causes of Death Registry. In: National Institute for Health Development [website]. Tallinn: National Institute for Health Development; 2017 (<u>https://tai.ee/en/r-and-d/registers/</u><u>estonian-causes-of-death-registry</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 91. The Termination of Pregnancy and Sterilisation Act. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/en/eli/505032015003/consolide</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 92. The Public Health Act. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2017 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.</u> <u>ee/en/eli/ee/Riigikogu/act/520122017004/consolide</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 93. Narkomaaniaravi andmekogu põhimäärus [Statutes of the Drug Treatment Database]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2017 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/112032019025</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 94. Müokardiinfarktiregistri põhimäärus [Statutes of the Myocardial Infarction Register]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/112032019023</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).

- 95. Vähi sõeluuringute registri põhimäärus [Statutes of the Cancer Screening Register]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2017 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/112032019024</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 96. The Estonian E-HIV database [online database]. Tartu: University of Tartu; 2019 (<u>http://hiv.ut.ee/estonian-hiv-database-e-hiv2?lang=en</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 97. X-Road [online database]. Tallinn: E-Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://e-estonia.com/solutions/</u> interoperability-services/x-road/, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 98. Klassifikaatorid [Classifications]. In: National Institute for Health Development [website]. Tallinn: National Institute for Health Development; 2019 (<u>https://www.tai.ee/et/tegevused/</u> <u>tervisestatistika/metaandmed/klassifikaatorid</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 99. Population Register [online database]. Tallinn: Ministry of Interior; 2019 (<u>https://www.siseministeerium.ee/en/population-register</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 100. e-Business Register [online database]. Tallinn: Centre of Registers and Information Systems; 2019 (<u>https://www.rik.ee/et/e-ariregister</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- Sotsiaalkaitse infosüsteemi põhimäärus [Statutes of the Social Security Information System]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/118082018007</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- Liiklusregistri pidamise põhimäärus [Statutes of the Traffic Register]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/120062017024</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 103. Tööinspektsiooni avaandmeid [**The work environment database**] [online database]. Tallinn: Labour Inspectorate; 2019 (<u>https://www.ti.ee/est/teavitustegevus-statistika/</u> <u>statistika/avaandmed/</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 104. Eesti Hariduse Infosüsteemi asutamine ning põhimäärus [Statutes of the Education Information System]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2018 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/114022018004</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 105. WHO methods and data sources for country-level causes of death 2000–2012. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 (Global Health Estimates Technical Paper WHO/HIS/HSI/ GHE/2014.7; <u>https://www.who.int/healthinfo/statistics/GlobalCOD_method.pdf</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 106. Eesti Vähiregistri kvaliteedi analüüs tegemist toetas **[Analysis of the quality of the Cancer Register data]**. In: National Institute for Health Development **[website]**. Tallinn: National Institute for Health Development; 2018 (<u>https://tai.ee/et/tegevused/registrid/vahiregister/andmekvaliteet</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 107. National Institute for Health Development, personal communication (face-to-face group discussion no. 2), 1 February 2019.
- 108. Research reports. In: National Institute for Health Development [website]. Tallinn: National Institute for Health Development; 2019 (<u>https://tai.ee/en/health-data/research-reports</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- Research and analyses. In: Ministry of Social Affairs [website]. Tallinn: Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.sm.ee/en/research-and-analysis</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 110. Statistics Estonia statistical database [online database]. Tallinn: Statistics Estonia; 2019 (<u>http://pub.stat.ee/px-web.2001/dialog/statfile1.asp</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).

- 111. Health sense project proposal (data warehouse). Tallinn: Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia; 2018.
- 112. Health Statistics and Health Research Database [online database]. Tallinn: National Institute for Health Development; 2019 (<u>http://pxweb.tai.ee/PXWeb2015/index_en.html</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 113. Tervisestatistika teistelt asutustelt **[Statistics from other agencies]**. In: National Institute for Health Development **[website]**. Tallinn: National Institute for Health Development; 2019 (<u>https://tai.ee/et/tegevused/tervisestatistika/tervisestatistika-teistelt-asutustelt</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 114. The Estonian Health Insurance Fund database [online database]. Tallinn: Estonian Health Insurance Fund; 2019 (<u>https://www.haigekassa.ee/ravikindlustuse-andmebaas</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 115. Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia, personal communication (written consultation no. 5), 17 February 2019.
- 116. Tervise- ja heaoluprofiil [The Health and Welfare Profiles for counties and local governments]. In: terviseinfo.ee [website]. Tallinn: National Institute for Health Development; 2019 (http://www.terviseinfo.ee/et/tervise-edendamine/tervise-edendamine-paikkonnas/ tervise-ja-heaoluprofiil, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 117. Official Statistics Act. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2015 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.</u> <u>ee/en/eli/506012015002/consolide</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 118. Bank of Estonia (Eesti Pank) Act. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2015 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/en/eli/513042015009/consolide</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 119. Estonian e-Health Strategic Development Plan 2020. Tallinn: Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia; 2015 (<u>https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/sisekomm/e-tervise</u><u>strateegia 2020 15 en1.pdf</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 120. Tervisestatistika arengukava aastateks [Health Statistics Development Plan for] 2004–2010. Tallinn: Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia; 2004.
- 121. Terviseinfo vision [Health information vision]. Tallinn: Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia; 2013.
- 122. Eurostat report on healthcare non-expenditure statistics 2018 and 2019 data collection. Luxembourg: European Commission; 2018.
- 123. Estonian Research and Development and Innovation Strategy 2014–2020. Tartu: Ministry of Education and Research of Estonia; 2014 (<u>https://www.hm.ee/sites/default/files/estonian_rdi_strategy_2014-2020.pdf</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 124. Teaduspoliitika komisjoni koosseisu kinnitamine [Approval of the composition of the Research Policy Committee].Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2017 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/326052015001?leiaKehtiv</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 125. Research and development. In: Ministry of Education and Research [website]. Tartu: Ministry of Education and Research of Estonia; 2018 (<u>https://www.hm.ee/en/research-and-development</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 126. Teadus- ja Arendusnõukogu [Research and Development Council]. In: Government Office [website]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://riigikantselei.ee/et/valitsuse-toetamine/teadus-ja-arendusnoukogu</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).

- 127. Research, Development and Innovation Strategy for the Estonian Health System 2015–2020. Tallinn: Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia; 2015 (<u>https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/</u> <u>content-editors/eesmargid ja tegevused/Tervis/strategy research and innovation for</u> <u>health.pdf</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 128. University of Tartu, personal communication (written consultation no. 4), 7 March 2019.
- 129. Competence centers in Estonia. In: Research in Estonia [website]. Tartu: Estonian Research Council; 2019 (<u>http://researchinestonia.eu/research-landscape-2/research-institutions/</u> <u>competence-centers/</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 130. The Competence Centre on Health Technologies [website]. Tartu: The Competence Centre on Health Technologies; 2019 (<u>https://ccht.ee/home/</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 131. Jensen BL. Regular evaluation of Estonian research and development [in the field of] Medical and Health Sciences, 7 September 2017 [presentation]. Odense: University of Southern Denmark; 2017 (<u>https://www.etag.ee/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Arsti-jaterviseteadused.pptx</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 132. Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia, personal communication (face-to-face consultation no. 2), 6 March 2019.
- 133. Rahastamise üldpilt [Financing]. In: Estonian Research Council [website]. Tartu: Estonian Research Council; 2019 (<u>https://www.etag.ee/tegevused/uuringud-ja-statistika/statistika/teadus-ja-arendustegevuse-rahastamise-meetmete-proportsioonid/</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 134. Lõvi S. Eesti teadusleppe täistekst [Full text of the Estonian research agreement]. In: ERR News [website]. Tallinn: Estonian Public Broadcasting; 19 December 2018 (<u>https://novaator.err.ee/886104/eesti-teadusleppe-taistekst</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 135. Statistics Estonia. Tables RD021: Research and development personnel in business enterprise sector by sex and economic activity and RD074 Researchers in non-profit institutional sectors by field of science and sex [online database]. Tallinn: Statistics Estonia; 2017/2018.
- 136. EURAXESS Estonia. Research landscape in Estonia. In: European Commission [website]. Brussels: European Commission; 2019 (<u>https://euraxess.ec.europa.eu/information/content/estonia/research-landscape-estonia</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 137. Schiermeier Q. How Estonia blazed a trail in science. Nature; 22 January 2019 [online j ournal] (https://www.nature.com/articles/d41586-019-00209-7?fbclid=lwAR3Pzwg_gjnmPRcVSA9HcFgE7I3KgZ61SaoqLtJLOlqPhL67OmuPdFroUIM, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 138. RITA. In: Estonian Research Council [website]. Tartu: Estonian Research Council; 2019 (<u>https://www.etag.ee/en/funding/programmes/rita</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 139. TAI strateegia rakendusplaani koondtabel [Research development strategy implementation plan]. Tartu: Ministry of Education and Research; 2017 (<u>https://www.hm.ee/sites/default/files/3. tai rakendusplaan tabel pdf 0.pdf</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 140. Ivask A (Research Adviser for Health Policy at the Ministry of Social Affairs). Significant proportion of R&D&I **[research and development and innovation]** spending of the Ministry of Social Affairs may be classified as R&D&I supporting activities and not strictly R&D **[estimation]**. Tallinn: Ministry of Social Affairs; 2019.

- 141. Statistics Finland (Appendix table 3. Central government R&D funding by administrative sector in 2017 and 2018 (Nomenclature for the Analysis and Comparison of Scientific Programmes and Budgets, rev. 2007; NABS 2007). Helsinki: Statistics Finland; 2018 (<u>http://tilastokeskus.fi/til/tkker/2018/tkker_2018_2018-02-22_tau_003_en.html</u>, accessed 5 August 2019).
- 142. Lemer M. Teadus ja innovatsioon tervise teenistusse [Science and innovation for health]. Eesti Arst. 2017; 96(8):443 (<u>https://eestiarst.ee/teadus-ja-innovatsioon-tervise-teenistusse/</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 143. Terviseala teadus- ja innovatsiooninõukogu [Health Research and Innovation Council]. In: Ministry of Social Affairs [website]. Tallinn: Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.sm.ee/et/terviseala-teadus-ja-innovatsiooninoukogu</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 144. Eesti Teadusagentuuri hindamisnõukogu esitas personaalsete uurimistoetuste lõpliku ettepaneku [The Evaluation Council of the Estonian Research Council presented the final proposal for personal research grants]. In: Estonian Research Council [website]. Tartu: Estonian Research Council; 20 December 2018 (<u>https://www.etag.ee/eesti-teadusagentuuri-hindamisnoukogu-esitas-personaalsete-uurimistoetuste-lopliku-ettepaneku/</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 145. Kreitsberg R. Kriitiline uuring: mis tööd teevad doktorikraadiga inimesed? [Critical study: what do people with doctoral degrees work with?]. In: ERR News [website]. Tallinn: Estonian Public Broadcasting; 7 February 2018 (https://novaator.err.ee/681520/kriitilineuuring-mis-tood-teevad-doktorikraadiga-inimesed, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 146. Human Genes Research Act. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2019 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/en/eli/508042019001/consolide</u>, accessed 28 June 2019).
- 147. Korraline evalveerimine [Evaluation] 2017. In: Estonian Research Council [website]. Tartu: Estonian Research Council; 2019 (<u>https://www.etag.ee/tegevused/evalveerimine/korraline-evalveerimine-2017/</u>, accessed 28 June 2019 in Estonian).
- 148. Rules of procedure of the Medical Ethics Committee for Clinical Trials, a list of data to be submitted for obtaining approval, procedure for adoption of resolutions and format of application for obtaining approval. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2017 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/en/eli/502052017001/consolide</u>, accessed 1 July 2019).
- 149. Nõuded kliiniliste uuringute meditsiinieetika komitee koosseisule, komitee töökord, kliinilise uuringu hindamise tasu määr ja kooskõlastuse saamiseks esitatavate andmete loetelu [Requirements for the composition of the Medical Ethics Committee for Clinical Trials, rules of procedure of the committee, fee for evaluation of clinical trials and list of data to be approved]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2001 (<u>https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/85940</u>, accessed 1 July 2019 in Estonian).
- 150. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects. In: World Medical Association [website]. Ferney-Voltaire: World Medical Association; 2019 (<u>https://www.wma.net/policies-post/wma-declaration-of-helsinki-ethical-principles-for-medical-research-involving-human-subjects/</u>, accessed 1 July 2019).
- 151. National Centre of Translational and Clinical Research [website]. Tartu: National Centre of Translational and Clinical Research; 2019 (<u>http://www.ctm.ee/clinical-research-centre/clinical-research/</u>, accessed 1 July 2019).
- 152. Estonian Research 2019. Tartu: Estonian Research Council; 2019 (<u>https://www.etag.ee/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Estonian Research 2019 veeb.pdf</u>, accessed 1 July 2019).
- 153. Eesti Arst [Estonian Physician] [website]. Tartu: Eesti Arst; 2019 (<u>http://eestiarst.ee/</u>, accessed 1 July 2019 in Estonian).
- 154. Peters D, Adam T, Alonge O, Agyepon IA, Tran N. Implementation research: what it is and how to do it. BMJ 2013;347:f6753 (<u>https://www.bmj.com/content/347/bmj.f6753</u>, accessed 1 July 2019).
- 155. University of Tartu Hospital Centre of Medical Information [website]. Tartu: University of Tartu Hospital Centre of Medical Information; 2019 (<u>https://www.kliinikum.ee/infokeskus/ee</u>, accessed 1 July 2019).
- 156. RaTeRa Rahvatervishoiu Raamatukogu [Public Health Library] [website]. Tartu: University of Tartu; 2019 (<u>http://rahvatervis.ut.ee/</u>, accessed 1 July 2019 in Estonian).
- 157. Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia, personal communication (face-to-face consultation no. 4), 6 March 2019.
- 158. Teadusnõunikud ministeeriumites: RITA tegevus 3 [Research advisors in ministries: RITA 3 activities]. In: Estonian Research Council [website]. Tartu: Estonian Research Council; 2019 (https://www.etag.ee/rahastamine/rakendusuuringute-toetused/rita-rakendusuuringud/ teadusnounikud-ministeeriumites-ja-riigikantseleis/, accessed 1 July 2019 in Estonian).
- 159. Teadusnõustaja töö kirjeldus [Job description of the Research Adviser for Health Policy]. Tallinn: Ministry of Social Affairs; 2018.
- 160. Health Technology Assessment in Estonia. In: University of Tartu Institute of Family Medicine and Public Health [website]. Tartu: University of Tartu; 2019 (<u>https://tervis.ut.ee/en/health-technology-assessment-estonia</u>, accessed 1 July 2019).
- 161. Tartu Ülikooli tervisetehnoloogiate hindamise ekspertnõukogu töökord [Rules of Procedure of the Expert Council on Health Technologies Assessment at the University of Tartu]. Tartu: University of Tartu; 2016 (<u>https://tervis.ut.ee/sites/default/files/pc/tth_noukogu_tookord_kinnitatud_24mail2016.pdf</u>, accessed 1 July 2019 in Estonian).
- 162. Tervisetehnoloogiate hindamise (TTH) raportite tulemused ja mõju otsustele eesti tervishoius [Health Technology Assessment (TTH) reports results and impact on decisions in Estonian health care]. Tartu: University of Tartu; 2017 (<u>https://tervis.ut.ee/sites/default/files/www_ut/tth_raportite_rakendused_tu_ehka.pdf</u>, accessed 1 July 2019 in Estonian).
- 163. Health care services. In: Estonian Health Insurance Fund [website]. Tallinn: Estonian Health Insurance Fund; 2019 (<u>https://www.haigekassa.ee/en/people/health-care-services</u>, accessed 1 July 2019).
- 164. Eesti Haigekassa tervishoiuteenuste loetelu kriteeriumide täpsem sisu ning kriteeriumidele vastavuse hindajad, tervishoiuteenuste loetelu hindamise tingimused ja kord, tervishoiuteenuste loetelu komisjoni moodustamine ja töökord ning arvamuse andmise kord [More detailed content of the EHIF's list of criteria for health services and assessors of compliance with the criteria, conditions and procedure for evaluating the list of health services, establishment and rules of procedure of the list of health services, and the procedure for giving an opinion]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2018 (https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/114072018010, accessed 1 July 2019 in Estonian).

SITUATION ANALYSIS TO IMPROVE EVIDENCE-INFORMED HEALTH POLICY-MAKING IN ESTONIA

- 165. Eesti Haigekassa ravimite loetelu koostamise ja muutmise kord ning loetelu kehtestamise kriteeriumide sisu ja kriteeriumidele vastavuse hindajad ning ravimikomisjoni moodustamine ja töökord [Procedures for Compiling and Modifying the List of Medicinal Products of the Estonian Health Insurance Fund and the criteria and criteria for assessing compliance with the criteria for establishing the List of Medicines and for establishing and operating the Pharmaceutical Committee]. Tallinn: Government Office of Estonia; 2017 (https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/123122017021, accessed 1 July 2019 in Estonian).
- 166. Ravijuhendid [Health care guidelines]. In: Estonian Health Insurance Fund [website]. Tallinn: Estonian Health Insurance Fund; 2019 (<u>https://www.haigekassa.ee/en/node/1105</u>, accessed 1 July 2019 in Estonian).
- 167. Ravijuhendite püsisekretariaat [Permanent Secretariat of Health Care Guidelines]. In: University of Tartu Faculty of Medicine [website]. Tartu: University of Tartu Faculty of Medicine; 2019 (<u>https://meditsiiniteadused.ut.ee/et/valdkonnast/ravijuhenditepusisekretariaat</u>, accessed 1 July 2019 in Estonian).
- 168. Eesti ravijuhendite koostamise käsiraamat **[Health care guidelines handbook]** 2017. Tallinn; 2017 (<u>https://meditsiiniteadused.ut.ee/sites/default/files/www_ut/rj_kasiraamat_tooversioon_2017.pdf</u>, accessed 1 July 2019 in Estonian).
- 169. Alkoholipoliitika roheline raamat [Green Paper on Alcohol Policy]. Tallinn: Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia; 2014 (<u>https://www.tai.ee/images/PDF/Alkoholipoliitika roheline raamat.</u> pdf, accessed 1 July 2019 in Estonian).
- 170. Tubakapoliitika roheline raamat **[Green Paper on Tobacco Policy]**. Tallinn: Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia; 2014 (<u>https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/eesmargid</u> <u>ia tegevused/Tervis/tubakas 2014.pdf</u>, accessed 1 July 2019 in Estonian).
- 171. Toitumise ja liikumise roheline raamat [Green Paper on Nutrition and Physical Activity]. In: Ministry of Social Affairs [website]. Tallinn: Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia; 2016 (<u>https://www.sm.ee/et/toitumise-ja-liikumise-roheline-raamat</u>, accessed 1 July 2019 in Estonian).
- 172. Riiklik HIV tegevuskava aastateks [HIV and AIDS implementation plan] 2017–2025. Tallinn: Ministry of Social Affairs of Estonia; 2017 (<u>https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/Tervishoid/rahvatervis/hiv_riiklik_tegevuskava_2017_2025.pdf</u>, accessed 1 July 2019 in Estonian).
- 173. Magustatud joogi maksu seadus [Sweetened Beverages Tax Act]. Tallinn: Riigikogu; 2017 (<u>https://m.riigikogu.ee/tegevus/eelnoud/eelnou/5789049e-b839-44e1-a033-5fa589095bfe/</u> <u>Magustatud%20joogi%20maksu%20seadus</u>, accessed 1 July 2019 in Estonian).
- 174. Köhler K, Reinap M. Policy and practice Paving the way to sugar-sweetened beverages tax in Estonia, Public Health Panorama. 2017;3(4):633–9 (<u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/publications/public-health-panorama/journal-issues/volume-3,-issue-4,-december-2017/policy-and-practice4</u>, accessed 1 July 2019).
- 175. Veerman L, Thai T. The potential health effects of taxing sugary drinks in Estonia. Woolloomooloo: Cancer Council NSW; 2017 (<u>https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/Ministeerium_kontaktid/Uuringu_ja_analuusid/Tervisevaldkond/the_potential_health_effects_of_taxing_sugary_drinks_in_estonia_0.pdf, accessed 1 July 2019).</u>
- 176. Thomson S, Võrk A, Habicht T, Rooväli S, Evetovits T, Habicht J. Responding to the challenges of financial sustainability in Estonia's health system. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2010 (<u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/countries/estonia/publications/responding-to-the-challenge-of-financial-sustainability-in-estonias-health-system-2010</u>, accessed 1 July 2019).

- 177. WHO notes on the Memorandum to the Cabinet of Ministers on the Analysis of additional funding for health and proposals for ensuring sustainability of health insurance in Estonia. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe; 2016 (<u>https://www.sm.ee/sites/default/files/content-editors/Tervishoid/who_ettepanekud.pdf</u>, accessed 1 July 2019).
- 178. Ministry of Justice, Government Office, Mõjude hindamise metoodika [Impact assessment methodology]. Tallinn: Ministry of Justice of Estonia; 2012 (<u>https://www.just.ee/sites/www.just.ee/files/elfinder/article_files/mojude_hindamise_metoodika.pdf</u>, accessed 1 July 2019 in Estonian).
- 179. Norwegian Center for the Health Services [website]. Oslo: Norwegian Knowledge Center for the Health Services; 2019 (<u>http://www.adhophta.eu/partner/norwegian-knowledge-center-health-services-nokc</u>, accessed 10 July 2019).
- 180. The King's fund [website]. London: The King's Fund; 2019 (<u>https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/</u>, accessed 10 July 2019).
- 181. McMaster Health Forum [website]. Ontario: McMaster Health Forum; 2019 (<u>https://www.mcmasterforum.org/</u>, accessed 10 July 2019).
- Knowledge to Policy Center. In: American University of Beirut [website]. New York: American University of Beirut; 2019 (<u>https://www.aub.edu.lb/k2p/Pages/default.aspx</u>, accessed 10 July 2019).
- 183. European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies [website]. Brussels: European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies; 2019 (<u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/about-us/partners/observatory</u>, accessed 10 July 2019).

THE WHO REGIONAL OFFICE FOR EUROPE

The World Health Organization (WHO) is a specialized agency of the United Nations created in 1948 with the primary responsibility for international health matters and public health. The WHO Regional Office for Europe is one of six regional offices throughout the world, each with its own programme geared to the particular health conditions of the countries it serves.

MEMBER STATES

Albania Andorra Armenia Austria Azerbaijan **Belarus** Belgium Bosnia and Herzegovina Bulgaria Croatia Cyprus Czechia Denmark Estonia Finland France Georgia Germany Greece Hungary Iceland Ireland Israel Italy Kazakhstan Kyrgyzstan Latvia Lithuania Luxembourg Malta Monaco Montenegro Netherlands North Macedonia Norway Poland Portugal **Republic of Moldova** Romania **Russian Federation** San Marino Serbia Slovakia Slovenia Spain Sweden Switzerland Tajikistan Turkey Turkmenistan Ukraine United Kingdom Uzbekistan



World Health Organization Regional Office For Europe

UN City, Marmorvej 51, DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark Tel.: +45 45 33 70 00 Fax: +45 45 33 70 01 E-mail: euwhocontact@who.int Web: <u>www.euro.who.int</u>